

University of Nebraska Medical Center DigitalCommons@UNMC

MD Theses

Special Collections

1947

Thoracic lymphatics

Marcus Richard Beck University of Nebraska Medical Center

This manuscript is historical in nature and may not reflect current medical research and practice. Search PubMed for current research.

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/mdtheses

Recommended Citation

Beck, Marcus Richard, "Thoracic lymphatics" (1947). *MD Theses*. 1435. https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/mdtheses/1435

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Special Collections at DigitalCommons@UNMC. It has been accepted for inclusion in MD Theses by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UNMC. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@unmc.edu.

THE CONCEPT OF THE LYMPHATICS OF THE LUNGS, HEART, AND DIAPHRAGM WITH AN EVALUATION OF PRESENT KNOWLEDGE OF PLEURAL ABSORPTION

BY MARCUS R. BECK

SENIOR THESIS PRESENTED TO THE COLLEGE OF MEDICINE, UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA, OMAHA, 1947.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	Page 111
ABSORPTION FROM THE PLEURAL CAVITY	1
The Anatomy of the Pleural Lymphatics	2
The Reaction to and Removal of Foreign Substan-	
ces in the Pleural Cavity	2
Gross Lymphatic Drainage of the Pleural Cavity.	15
Physiologic Considerations: Factors Determin-	
ing Efficiency of Absorption and the Relative	
Role of Different Processes in Absorption from	
the Pleural Cavity	20
The Concept of Pleural Absorption	30
Problems Remaining in Pleural Absorption	32
THE PULMONARY LYMPHATICS	34
Development of the Pulmonary Lymphatics	35
The Anatomy of the Pulmonary Lymphatics	44
Gross Lymphatic Drainage of the Lung	49
Removal of Foreign Substances by the Pulmonary	
Lymphatics	55
Physiologic Considerations: The Formation and	
Flow of Lymph in the Lung	58
The Total Concept of Pulmonary Lymphatics	66
Problems Remaining in Pulmonary Lymphatics	69
THE CARDIAC LYMPHATICS	71

Development of the Cardiac Lymphatics	72
The Anatomy of the Cardiac Lymphatics	76
Gross Lymphatic Drainage of the Heart	85
Removal of Foreign Substances by Cardiac Lym-	
phatics	88
Physiologic Considerations of Cardiac Lymph-	
atics	89
The Total Concept of Cardiac Lymphatics	91
Problems Remaining in Cardiac Lymphatics	94
THE DIAPHRAGMATIC LYMPHATICS	95
Development of the Diaphragmatic Lymphatics	96
The Anatomy of the Diaphragmatic Lymphatics	97
Gross Lymphatic Drainage of the Diaphragm	99
Physiologic Considerations of the Diaphrag-	
matic Lymphatics	103
The Total Concept of Diaphragmatic Lymphatics .	108
Problems Remaining in Diaphragmatic Lymphatics.	110
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	112
BIBLIOGRAPHY	119

When knowledge of the lymphatics is compared to most other systems of the body, it us is usually found to be deficient. This is nowhere more true than in the thoracic cavity.

Although understanding of diseases of the thorax has sharply risen, the lymphatic system of this region has not kept pace. It is loosely used to explain a group of phenomena not well understood, with confusion or a false interpretation generally resulting. The evaluation of the present knowledge of thoracic lymphatics is thus indicated.

In this thesis, the literature on the structure and function of the lymphatics of the lungs, heart, and diaphragm will be reviewed and evaluated, as will that concerned with pleural absorption. On this basis, the concept of structure and function of these lymphatic channels will be presented.

In every section an attempt will be made to establish the developmental pattern. This will be followed by the microscopic and gross anatomy of the lymphatic vessels. Physiologic considerations will then be reviewed. The summary of conclusions in all of these sections will comprise the total concept. Since this subject in general is so unexplored, the final portion of each section will be devoted to the problems remaining in each field.

ili

ABSORPTION FROM THE PLEURAL CAVITY

The absorption of colloidal material from the pleural cavity has been generally considered a function of the lymphatic system. Considering the clinical importance of this process, it is surprising that it remains such a vague entity today. This section will be devoted to a better understanding of this process.

It is rather surprising that it has not recieved more attention, and we are considerably handicapped by a lack of investigation into some phases of this problem.

THE ANATOMY OF THE PLEURAL LYMPHATICS

There is no literature recording the microscopic structure of the lymphatic channels of the costal pleura. We are no doubt correct in assuming that these are endothelial lined vessels lying beneath a layer of mesothelium, but the interposed tissue is not clearly defined. The gross appearance of these channels is discussed with the topic of the gross drainage of the pleural cavity.

The lymphatic vessels in relation to the mediastinal pleura, which will be shown very active in the process of pleural absorption, have not been described.

THE REACTION TO AND REMOVAL OF FOREIGN SUBSTANCES FROM THE PLEURAL CAVITY

Although studied to some extent for the past two hundred

years, the removal of foreign particles from the pleural cavity still constitutes a problem as yet unsolved. This is true especially as concerns the mechanism of absorption and to lesser extent the pathways taken by the absorbed material. Likewise, the factors which influence the efficiency of this process remain in considerable doubt, both as to actual effect and the mechanism by which these factors may act. In this discussion, an attempt will be made to present the experimental basis for those facts which we may reasonably accept as being true, those which must be held in doubt, and those problems which confront us at the present time.

The earliest work on pleural absorption involved the investigation of the fate of crystalloid solutions and was carried out by Starling and Leathes (1895). These workers injected sodium chloride solutions of various concentrations. noting the speed of removal of this fluid and the concentration of the fluid remaining in the cavity. They found that hypertonic solutions were absorbed very slowly if at all, and in most cases found that more fluid was present than was origionally injected, this fluid being of less concentration than that origionally injected. Conversely, hypotonic solutions were absorbed with extreme rapidity and remaining fluid was of greater concentration than the injected solution. Normal saline was absorbed only very slowly with no change in concentration of the remaining fluid. From such observations, the authors concluded that the absorption of crystalloid solutions followed osmotic patterns alone and

that there was no vital activity on the part of the cell in this process. The injection of a weak solution of sodium flouride (designed to kill the pleural mesothelial cells) with the sodium chloride solutions did not alter the fate of the injected solution. Some idea of the relative efficiency of this process was gained through the efforts of Corfer (1929), who found that the disappearance of sulphocyanate from the pleural cavity occured more slowly than from the parenchyma of the lung and more rapidly than from the peritoneal cavity. This was determined by the intratracheal injection of 2% sulphocyanate with subsequent determination of the blood level. Investigating the effect of pneumothorax, Maier (1939) duplicated almost exactly the picture produced by Starling and Leathes, and felt that they were correct in their conclusions. The work of these two groups seems amply to confirm this supposition. As a further index to the efficiency of the removal of crystalline solutions from the pleural cavity, the observations of Stevens, Taliaferro, and Haag (1941) serves to show that the pleural cavity is a relatively efficient absorber of crystalloid substances. They found that sulfathiazole absorption from the pleural cavity occurred more rapidly than from the intestinal tract and from the peritoneal cavity. This absorption was judged by blood levels of the drug at hourly intervals after injection. At one hour, the level in the intrapleurally injected animal was about 33% higher than the intraperitoneal, and for the next three hours remained about 25% higher. It

then dropped to the blood level of the fluids introduced at other sites.

The other great class of material studied includes the various colloidal solutions adaptable for animal experimentation. In this sort of study there has been a general acceptance that lymphatics are largely, if not entirely, responsible for the removal of such substances from the pleural cavity. It must be borne in mind, however, that the majority of the studies made have not attempted to evaluate the role of the blood stream in this process.

The few articles which have concerned themselves with this question are in a state of disagreement. Katsura (1924) followed the absorption of aniline dyes in the normal peritoneal and pleural cavities of dogs and rabbits. He concluded that crystalloids (even in powder form) were rapidly absorbed by the blood stream, dependent upon the amount introduced. Colloidal dyes were found to be resorbed much more slowly through lymph channels. Brodsky (1928), on the other hand, believes that crystalloids must first pass through lymphatic channels before reaching the blood stream. He concludes this through studies on the lung, using potassium ferrocyanide as the substance traced. So it is very apparent that in the thorax, as in other places, the dispute as to the specificity of lymphatic and blood vascular endothelium rages.

There has been a wide variety of substances injected into the pleural cavity with only the observations recorded and

very little suggestion as to the composite picture of pleural absorption. These studies have been very helpful, however, in establishing the functional capabilities of the cells of the pleural mesothelium. The earliest of these miscellaneous studies was undertaken by Comper and Renoch (1921) who injected 7% gum acacia into the pleural cavities of rabbits, both normal and sensitized by injections of tubercle The blood level of the acacia at various times bacilli. after injection was taken as the index as to the efficiency of absorption. They found that the acacia soon appeared in the blood stream and that sensitization by the tubercle bacilli did not affect the rate or efficiency of absorption. No microscopic study was done. Binet and Verne (1924) found that ten days after the injection of rancid oil into the pleural cavities of dogs, pseudomembranes were found on the surface of the lung and pronounced proliferation of the connective tissue beneath the pleural mesothelium was present. The oil did not seem to be absorbed. Injection of oil which did not contain fatty acid was followed by absorption of the oil. The authors suggest that absorption probably occurs directly through the pleura and assume that the oil reappears in the lung and is there destroyed. Fat corpuscles were not found in the pleural mesothelial cells. Desbatilet (1927) studied the response of the pleural mesothelium of the guinea pig to tar and olive oil. The pleural mesothelium was seen to hypertrophy, acquire an apical brush, and foreign material

was found within the cell. Tissue proliferation with verrucosities. villosities, or more often fungoid masses with a contorted surface was observed. After absorption, the pulmonary parenchyma showed simple hypertrophy of the alveolar epithelium and proliferation with an adenomatous aspect. The tar emulsion was split up by the pleura, the oil being absorbed and the tar caught up by tissue proliferation or devoured by large mononuclears. Merklen, Waitz, and Kabaker (1932) found that india ink and trypan blue injected intrapleurally could be found phagocytized by vacuolate and endothelial cells and by monocytes. Bradley and First (1938) studied the response of the pleural mesothelium to the implantation of various dusts. In a series of fifty rabbits, abouthous silica (10 animals) gave a proliferative response with fairly large confluent nodules scattered over the pleura and pericardium, with numerous small deposits scattered over the lung and mediastinal pleura. Numerous adhesions were observed. The diaphragmatic pleura showed far less reaction than did pleura incother sites. White rouge gave the same response with the same number of animals. Calcium carbonate (10 animals) showed complete absorption with no lasting changes, with the exception of a few hard deposits on parietal and visceral pleurae. There was no evidence of cellular proliferation. Magnetite (10 animals) showed an inart response. White rouge caused proliferation of what were apparently macrophages containing foreign

material. Aggregations of giant cells were seen and fibroblasts were prominent. Magnetite seemed to be phagocytized by large cells just beneath the serous membrane. Havilland and McManus (1941) demonstrated that the concentration of antipneumococcal antibodies (horse and rabbit sera) in the pleural cavities equalled that of the blood stream. Singer (1942) injected theretrast intrapleurally in an attempt to demonstrate the paths of drainage of the pleural cavity by roentgen examination. He found that on examination of the pleura grossly there were lines and pathhes of the theretrast fixed on the pleura and microscopically some of this material was seen fixed in macrophages. He found the parenchyma of the lung to be void of the substance, but lymph nodes of the mediastinum contained theretrast.

At an early date Marchand (1896) studied the effects of bacteria injected intrapleurally and found that these bacteria induced no reaction with the exception of a temporary local reaction on the surface of the pleura at the site of injection. If, however, there was a marked disturbance of the blood or lymph circulation, or if there is an initial injury to the pleural mesothelium, an empyema results. Grober (1901) confirmed Marchand's results on the intact pleura. He found that if a chemical irritant was first injected a purulent empyema resulted in a very short time. He concluded that the integrity of the pleura to bacterial invasion is dependent upon the integrity of the lymph vessels

and their ability to remove backeria to the main blood stream. Noetzel (1927) duplicated these results.

While these investigations give us valuable information, the most informative work has come from men who have used carbon particles in some form as their tracer material. Karsner ans Swanbeck (1920), in a careful study of the reaction of the pleura to india ink and carmine. found that the mesothelial cells of the pleura are definitely capable of phagocytizing ink particles in situ. Two percent lamp black solution was injected intrapleurally into cats. They found that pleural mesothelium over all surfaces, particularly over mediastinum and lung, contained carbon or carmane, depending upon which was injected. The ingestion was not of a diffuse nature but was round in small groups of cells. The mediastinum showed great numbers of large mononuclear cells loaded with particles in the lymphatics, and lymphatic endothelium also containing pigment. Occasionally a mesothelial cell could be seen dipping into the underlying tissue to pass into a lymphatic channel. The parietal pleura showed phagocytosis to much less extent than did other portions of the pleura, as was true of the diaphragm. Lymph nodes from the mediastinum all showed pigment in most cases. The authors believe that phagocytosis must precede removal of carbon particles from the pleural cavity. They also conclude that the mediastinal pleura shows the most activity, that of the lung next, with costal and diaphragmatic pleurae

the least. Wedsworth (1922), in attempting to determine the relative role of phagocytosis and respiratory movements in the entry of foreign granular material into the lymphatics, injected india ink intrapleurally and found the parietal pleura to have a greater activity in removal of partiales than the visceral pleura. Some phagocytosis was seen in the parietal pleura, with very little in the visceral pleura. Although he found that phagocytosis was a response of the pleural mesothelium to this granular material, his opinions on the role of this response in the total picture of absorption will be discussed later. Bettman (1925) confirmed the above findings.

By far the most exact and comprehensive study of the cytologic aspect of pleural absorption has been made by Lemon and Higgins (1930). They injected variable amounts of carbon suspensions into the pleural cavity of dogs and microscopically evaluated the response at various times. This work is finely done and in many respects embodies the conclusions of the problem to date, and for this reason considerable time will be spent in describing their results. After intrapleural injection of 15 cc of this preparation, from 50 to 75 cc of black, serous exudate may be recovered in the first hour. This exudate is rich in polymorphonuclear leukocytes (87%) with small and large lymphacytes constituting 10% to 12% of the total. Both neutrophiles and monocytes were seen to be phagocytic. In this same space of time,

the entire mediastinum and pulmonary ligament were superficially blackened while the remainder of the pleural surfaces were relatively free of the pigment. Three hours after injection the exudate was essentially unchanged. In many places, especially over the anterior mediastinum, there were large masses of accumulated exudate hanging as black festoons while in most places the carbon was evenly distributed. Both lungs were free of graphite. Some polymorphs containing pigment were seen in the mediastinum at this stage. The festoons were seen to consist of polymorphs which were densely packed with carbon, few monocytes, some erythpocytes, all being held together by a matrix of fibrin. Six hours after injection only 35 cc of exudate could be recovered and cellular infiltration into the mediastinum and pulmonary ligament was far more marked. Costal and diaphragmatic pleurae showed no response. Eighteen hours after injection, however, edema and cellular infiltration of the costal pleura was very apparent. The subserous connective tissue was markedly edematous and contained numerous graphite laden polymorphs. The clasmatocyte was seen for the first time in this tissue and in the exudate. The mesothelial cells were enlarged to several times their normal size and to desquamate or to migrate to deeper tissues. Edema characterized all pleural membranes at this time with extensive hyperemia manifest. For the first time, granules of graphite were recognized in the reticulo-endothelial components of the spleen and bone marrow.

No free graphite remained in the exudate, 45 cc of which was recovered from the pleural cavity. Polymorphs comprised about 80% of the cells in the exudate. In subsequent experiments in which the time was increased, the percentage of all cells in the exudate except the lymphecyte changed. After 72 hours, 72% of all cells were clasmatocytes and 12% were neutrophiles. Sections of the pleura exemined four, five, and seven days after injection showed many groups of mononuclear cells heavily packed with graphite, with some evidence to show that these cells were of mesothelial origin. Following the absorption of the graphite and the infiltration of the graphite-laden cells into the pleural membranes, cellular differentiation went on. Endothelial cells of vessels near the pleura were swollen and some were seen to contain graphite in their cytoplasm. Three types of cells abounded within the edematous mesenteries: Large mononuclear cells of mesothelial origin containing no or very little pigment and which showed signs of becoming fibroblasts; large and small lymphocytes which were slightly phagocytic; clasmatocytes containing large amounts of graphite. At five to seven days, organization of the festoons described above was in progress, with fibroblasts being prominent. The visceral pleura and pericardium did not take part in the removal at any time. Superficial collections of graphite over the diaphragmatic pleura could be easily brushed off and were the only signs of carbon on this division of the pleura.

Subsequent changes were only a continuation of the processes started during the first few days. The costal pleura, the mediastinum, the pulmonary ligament did not clear and contained no free graphite. In a period of months, these large clumps of cells on the surface of the mediastinum were organized and slowly removed in much the same manner as is a blood clot.

After reviewing the literature above, we are now in a position to evaluate and to form our conclusions on the cytologic aspect of plaural absorption.

From the investigations of the workers quoted, we must conclude that the absorption of crystalloids from the pleural cavity is dependent purely on the laws of osmotic pressure. The methods used by Starling and Leathes and by Maier are crystal clear and can leave little if any question. We are entitled to conclude that this is a relatively efficient process. It is probable that these crystalloids are absorbed directly into the blood stream, though the relative role of blood and lymph in this process is not clear.

We can well afford to be less dogmatic in our conclusions on the fate of colloidal material in the pleural cavity. The first line of reaction to such material is, of course, the pleural mesothelium. The mass of evidence presented permits us to accept these cells as being extremely active and of great functional capabilities in their response to foreign particles in the pleural cavity. We may also conclude that

these cells possess phagocytic properties under the proper stimulus, that stimulus comprising the presence of foreign colloidal material in the pleural cavity. The chief response of these cells seems to be the production of many fixed and an unknown number of wandering macrophages.

The painstaking efforts of Lemon and Higgins and of Karsner and Swanbeck are adequate evidence that the pleural mesothelium differs in its response according to its location within the pleural cavity. We may accept the mediastinal pleura as most active in its response to granular material injected intrapleurally, followed by the costal pleura, with the lung as quite unresponsive and the diaphragmatic pleura as inert. We can come to absolutely no conclusion as to the reason why these cells of morphological identity and of identical embryologic origin should show these gradations in activity. It would seem almost impossible that these cells should be intrinsically different in different locations. One cannot avoid consideration of the analogous activity of the mediastinal pleura and of the greater omentum in their response to colloidal material.

The relative role of blood stream and lymphatics in the removal of foreign colloidal material from the pleural cavity is also undetermined. It is deserving of further investigation. We can conclude without question that colloidal material injected intrapleurally will be found in lymphatic channels which act as efferents from the pleural cavity.

but must qualify this by stating that the amount carried by the blood stream is not known. The delayed appearance of foreign particles in the reticulo-endothelial cells of spleen and bone marrow suggests that the lymphatic system plays the predominant part.

That the blood stream plays a part in the response to foreign colloids is evidenced by the number of polymorphs in the exudate.

GROSS LYMPHATIC DRAINAGE OF THE PLEURAL CAVITY

As shown above, there can be no doubt that the lymphatic system plays a definite role in the removal of colloidal material foreign to the pleural cavity. Although the relative role of the lymphatic system in such a function cannot be accurately evaluated at present, it is definitely of value to understand the pathways of such drainage for reasons which become apparent when one considers disease processes within the pleural cavity. It is obvious that these are only a continuation of the local reaction to the noxious agent, whereby it is carried from the site of insult to open new locations of infection or neoplastic growth. Thus these pathways must be understood for the intelligent treatment of any disease process in the pleural cavity.

In presenting such a subject, we must realize that we can accomplish only the description of the afferent and ef-

ferent connections of the lymph channels and nodes and the gross appearance of the pleural cavity after injection of the tracer substance.

Once again we refer to Karsner and Swanbeck (1922) for a gross description of the pleural cavity a short time after the injection of india ink or carmine. Within two hours the mediastinum, especially the anterior, is very well demarcated from the remainder of the structures of the pleural cavity by the intense concentration of the dye on its pleural surfaces. It hangs as a curtain separating the two pleural cavities and is of the color of the material injected. Considerable pigmentation of the mediastinal nodes Superficial accumulations of carbon are seen may be seen. on other pleural surfaces, but may easily be brushed off. After 24 hours the picture is essentially the same with the exception that lymph nodes contain more pigment. This gross description is in full agreement with Lemon and Higgins (1930). Bettman (1925) adds to this description a picture of the marking of the intercostal lymphatic vessels (lying close to and parallel to the intercostal vessels and nerves) at a time four days after injection.

The brief and superficial summaries of the efferent lymphatics of the pleural cavity which are found in standard anatomy texts can hardly suffice for full understanding of this pathway. Their description, while agreeing with the findings described below, is not complete and is included

in the substance of what follows. For this reason these descriptions will not be specifically considered in this paper. Unfortunately, these are almost all of the descriptions given.

Lemon and Higgins (1931) in a paper designed to show the gross features of pleural absorption in the dog, cover the pathways of absorption very carefully and adequately. A solution of graphite particles was injected intrapleurally into dogs and the delineation of lymphatic channels and nodes was allowed to proceed by purely natural processes. This method revealed the lymph nodes of the thorax to be naturally divided into parietal and visceral groups. The parietal group comprises the sternal, vertebral, and the disphragmatic nodes; the visceral group including the mediastinal, pulmonary. tracheobronchial, tracheal, and bronchial nodes. The sternal nodes are quite constant and are seen to drain the peritoneum as well as portions of the costal pleura. Vertebral nodes are not constantly segmental on either right or left side, but are more constant on the right than on the left. Diaphragmatic nodes are very inconstant. The mediastinal nodes are also of the inconstant variety, comprising a group of three or four nodes lying between the vena cava and the trachea. Tracheal nodes, while always present, are very inconstant in number and size, lying along the traches from the junction of the azygos vein and vena cava to the level of the first interspace. Tracheobronchial nodes lie in the bifurcation

of the trachea and are constant in number and size.

The lymph drainage associated with these nodes may be grouped into six main routes, two of which conduct lymph caudad and four of which conduct lymph cephalad. The line of demarcation between these two directions of drainage lies at about the eighth or ninth interspace. Beneath this level, lymph vessels pass caudad and empty into a large node which lies dorsal to the anterior pole of the kidney. Efferent vessels from this node pass directly to the cysterna chyli. The cephalad drainage from this point of demarcation is less easily demonstrated and is imperfectly formed in the majority of cases. In general the intersegmental collecting vessels are more constant on the right than on the left and form a trunk which empties into the lower tracheal nodes on the right. On the left side, the collecting vessel, if present, empties into the anterior mediastinal nodes. This channel on the left usually reaches the level of the third rib, and eventually anastomoses with sternal nodes before entry into the thoracic duct. Ventrally, small lymphatic channels lie in and beneath the transversus thoracis muscles. A yessel was seen to lie on both the inferior and superior surface of each rib. These vessels unite to form a plexus which is independent of the lateral sternal channels from the diaphragm and lies lateral to it. These vessels pass into one of the sternal nodes at the level of the third interspace. Anterior to this, the channels emptied into the anterior of

two sternal nodes lying opposite to or above the first rib.

Rouviere (1938) in his description of the lymphatics of the human pleural cavity divides it into definite regions of drainage. He agrees with Lemon and Higgins in the general features of anterior and posterior direction of drainage. but in addition adds regions of costal drainage. The first of these regions includes the parietal pleura covering the first costal arch, the first intercostal space (exclusive of its extremities), and the entire pleural dome. The efferent vessels from this region reach the superior aperture of the thorax and generally terminate either in a node of the transverse cervical chain or internal jugular chain, or in the mediastinal lymph nodes. The second lymphatic region extends from a point below the first rib to the fourth rib, inclusive. Its anterior and posterior boundaries almost merge with those of the medial wall of the axilla. In addition to the general principle of anterior and posterior drainage, some lymphatic trunks traverse the thoracic wall to end in the axillary nodes. The third region extends below the second region and terminates at the sixth rib. Some collecting vessels from this region drain into the axillary nodes.

After presentation of this literature and briefly reviewing the classical picture, two things become apparent. The pattern offered by our present anatomy texts has become

generally accepted. It is at present impossible to determine the experimental basis for this summary. Secondly, experimental results on the dog confirm the findings presented in these texts. Our opinions on the efferent lymphatics of the pleural cavity have thus reached a static phase with the opinions well formed. There can be no real objection to accepting this pattern as described by Lemon and Higgins, with the reservation that the number and exact location of the lymph nodes may vary in the human.

Rouviere's areas of drainage are very pleasing to think about, but unfortunately we cannot evaluate his conclusions because we do not know the experimental method used in demonstrating these lymphatics.

PHYSIOLOGIC CONSIDERATIONS: FACTORS DETERMINING EFFICIENCY OF ABSORPTION AND THE RELATIVE ROLE OF DIFFERENT PROCESSES IN ABSORPTION FROM THE PLEURAL CAVITY

In consideration of a topic of this sort it is only fitting and proper that the effect of respiration on the absorption of foreign particles and solutions from the pleural cavity and its relative role in such a process should have been questioned. This was suggested very early and since has come to occupy one of the most controversial points in the entire problem. The constant changes in size of the thoracic organs and the constant changes in pressure relationships within the thoracic cavity have naturally caused

no little speculation and various attempts have been made to explain phenomena of absorption by such processes. We will, therefore, review the theories which have been advanced as to the mode of action of the respiratory process on the question at hand and the experimental basis for these theories.

Some years ago a controversy arose as to the manner in which foreign materials are removed from the pleural cavity, with the result that two schools of thought have arisen on this mechanism. In the last analysis, we probably are not dealing with two separately functioning entities, but rather with processes which act together to produce the final disappearance of the colloidal material. The first of these schools holds that mechanical change induced in tissues by virtue of the stresses of the respiratory movements are responsible and that the direct action of the cells on the foreign substance is not necessary for absorption. Dybkowsky (1866) was the first to suggest such a possibility and from him we quote directly.

"With each inspiration the intercostal subpleural lymphatic network is opened out and filled with fluid from the pleural cavity, the forces affecting this being the elasticity of the lung on one side and the tightening of the intercostal fascia by the inspiratory movements on the other. With each inspiration the intercostal fascia is relaxed and bulges inward, the capacity of the subpleural lymphatic network is

diminished and its contents are emptied into the efferent lymphatic vessels. The pumping action varies with the vigor of the inspiratory move-

ments and the elastic force exerted by the lung." By this explanation, Dybkowsky attempted to explain the disappearance of fluids and granular material from the pleural cavity. In this same year the first of the gravity experiments was done on the diaphragm by Ludwig and Schweigger-Seidel (1866). This procedure consists of placing the animal in such a position that the head of the animal lies below the level of the diaphragm. Following this, the granular or protein material is placed in the concavity of the diaphragm and filling of the diaphragmatic lymphatics of the dead animal is observed. Gravity is the only means of explanation for the filling of these lymphatics from the inferior surface of the diaphragm. The same may be done by intraperitoneal injection followed by artificial respiration. Results of this sort would tend to support a mechanical factor as being responsible. Other support for this mechanical factor will be found below, in addition to the following important reference. Wadsworth (1922) in attempting to evaluate the role of the respiratory movements in the removal of india ink from the pleural cavity of the rabbit. The animals were sacrificed and the traches cannulated to a positive pressure respirator. Intrapleural injection was made and artificial respiration begun. After a period of

about one hour of artificial respiration the animal was examined and the ink particles were seen to have progressed almost as far as in the living animal. Wadsworth naturally concluded that respiratory movements were the prime factor in the passage of carbon particles from the pleural cavity into the mediastinal nodes. Of recent years, Allen and Vogt (1939) have again considered the problem of the effect of changing volume on the removal of foreign material from the serous cavities. Although this investigation was primarily concerned with the diaphragm, their impression is believed to hold true for the costal pleurs as well. These workers excised portions of the lining mesothelium and their subjacent tissue and placed a small amount of carbon suspension on the mesothelial surface. On alternate stretching and relaxation of the tissue, the suspension was seen to enter the lymphatics beneath the serous layer and to flow through the lymphatic channels. In such a supposition, they of necessity take the viewpoint that stomata in some form exist between the mesothelial cells, a view held in disfavor by the majority of anatomists today. In opposition to this point of view Karsner and Swanbeck (1922) found all carbon intracellularly and came to the conclusion that carbon particles must be phagocytized before entry into the lymphatic channels.

The role of respiration in the question of absorption from the pleural cavity has to date concerned itself chiefly with the effect of pneumothorax on the efficiency of pleural

absorption. Detailed tissue work to corroborate the above theory of absorption has not been a part of the majority of this work. The common use of therapeutic pneumothorax today makes it obvious that we should attempt to understand fully the effects of this condition.

Bettman (1925) made a brief study of the effects of pneumothorax from the pleural cavity of the dog. He found that injection of india ink into the pleural cavity of normal dogs left only the markings of the intercostal lymphatics four days later. In animals in which an artificial pneumothorax was induced he found all pleural surfaces stained and the lymphatic channels less definitely defined after the same time interval. Cross section of the lungs showed them to contain no carbon, but a diffuse staining was otherwise present. In an attempt to determine the possible reason for such a change, Bettman induced a pneumothorax without carbon injection and could discern no change in the mesothelium. Thinking that perhaps separation of the pleurae might be the cause, he injected normal saline and found no change. He ventured no opinion. Corfer (1926) also investigated the effect of pneumothorax on the absorption of 2% sulphocyanate from the pleural cavity and by determining blood levels of this substance concluded that pneumothorax was without effect. Returning again to particulate matter, Noetzel (1927) injected twenty four hour bacterial boullion cultures into the pleural cavity of dogs. He found that in the normal animal this sus-

pension caused no appreciable reaction except for a localized inflammatory process at the site of injection. If, however, an artificial pneumothorax was induced at the same time, the injected material not only remained in the pleural cavity but also produced an empyema. He concluded that the pneumothorax greatly interfered with the lymph and blood circulations. Just how he believed that this mechanism operated, he did not say. This work was followed in two years by Dolley and Weise (1929), who attempted their study on the living dog. After cannulating the junction of the confluence of lymphatics on the left side (exclusive of the thoracic duct), trypan blue was injected intrapleurally on the left. After a control period, a massive pneumothorax (250 cc of air) was induced on the left side. Every dog showed a substantial decrease in the amount of lymph taken over periods of one half to one and one half hours. In addition, the authors found that if pneumothorax was induced before injection that greater time was required before the stained lymph appeared in the cannula. Chyle from the thoracic duct was also decreased in amount for the first few minutes of the pneumothorax. Dolley and Weise also believed that in pulmonary edema, fluid entered the pleural cavity rather than remaining within the lung. This conclusion was confirmed by Brock and Blair (1931), who noted that the induction of pulmonary edema was rapidly followed by pleural effusion. Brock (1934) attempted an investigation of the fate of fluids in the

pleural cavity of the rabbit under varying conditions. The efficiency of the absorption of these fluids was judged by the amount of fluid remaining in the pleural cavity and by the length of time required for the absorption of one minimum lethal dose of strychnine. He observed that with pneumothorax the efficiency of removal was increased by about 500% over normal. Deep and rapid respirations still had a marked effect and could increase the rate still fur-The most accurate evaluation, as concerns quantities, ther. was made by Maier (1939) in which he injected salt solutions of various concentrations into the pleural cavities of dogs and later noted the quantity of sodium chloride and the quantity of fluid remaining in the pleural cavity two hours after injection. He found that simple artificial pneumothorax decreased the absorption of sodium and chloride by 17% to 50%. with greatest average decrease seen with isotonic solution. He also found that deep respirations increased the rate of absorption, in some cases increasing the efficiency to above normal in the face of the pneumothorax. In conjunction with the above findings it would be wise to include the findings of Petersen and Drinker (1942) whose observations seem definitely to prove that movements of respiration do play a part in controlling the amount of lymph and the rate of lymph flowing in the thoracic cavity. They cannulated the traches of dogs and a lymphatic channel in the superior mediastinum which was assumed to represent a cross section of the general lymphatic

situation in the thoracic cavity. Cotton wool could be inserted into the traches and by this means forced respiration was induced. Immediately pressures reached a maximum of -56 mm in inspiration and the flow of lymph through this cannulated channel immediately increased in volume with red blood cells appearing in the lymph. The composition and amount of lymph returned to normal as soon as the obstruction to respiration was removed. The authors concluded that movements of respiration definitely influenced the flow of lymph in the thoracic cavity, with increased respiratory excursion (and consequently altered pressures) causing the increased flow of lymph.

Other factors influencing the efficiency of pleural absorption have not been fully investigated, and, in fact, have suffered from neglect. Notkin (1925) concluded that the absorption of hemoglobin was delayed from an inflammed pleural surface and concluded that the lymphatic vessels play a part in the economy of the living animal because it is only through these channels that tissue fluids can be absorbed. Corfer (1926) was of the same opinion as a result of his investigations with sulphocyanate. On the other hand, Brock (1934), using turpentine inflammation and judging the efficiency of absorption as described before, concluded that the rate of absorption was markedly increased. Two days after the inflammation was induced, he found that the rate was three times normal and even after fifteen days the rate was twice normal. Deep breathing further decreased the survival time by 30% to 50%.

Volumetric examination of fluid remaining in the pleural cavity confirmed the above results almost exactly. Brock also found that the rate of absorption increased with increasing amounts injected until a total of 75 cc was injected.

In evaluating the literature above, it is seen that the relative roles of phagocytosis and movements of respiration in the removal of foreign colloidal material from the pleural cavity are certainly worthy of further investigation and that we cannot at present draw any definite conclusions. There is ample proof that either may be responsible and both are well documented. If one were forced to lean in either direction, he would have to conclude that possibly respiratory movements have been more consistently shown to be responsible here and in other sites (see diaphragm). We can only speculate on this problem, but it seems possible that the two may operate at different times and under different conditions in the pleural cavity.

In attempting to evaluate the effects of pneumothorax on the efficiency of absorption from the pleural cavity, we need not look far to note a discrepancy. The experimental study thus far has been based on similar methods, all of which seem to be quite accurate. The results of these studies must lead us to the conclusion that pneumothorax does impede absorption from the pleural cavity, this being true for both crystalloids and colloids. Brock stands as the exception, both as to method used and to results obtained. This one

piece of work should not force us to reverse our opinion. While Brock's work is done with considerable care, we must remember that he used strychnine as the basis for his opinion of the rate of absorption. When we consider that this is not an inert substance in any sense of the word and that the susceptibility of a given series of animals will vary, we must reserve our opinion on the value of such a procedure. As in other phases of the absorptive process, the mechanism of pneumothorax is obscure. Decreased expansion of the thoracic acvity with its contained lung; disturbance of the capillary action between contacting pleural surfaces; gravitation of fluid to the inferior portions of the pleural cavity have been suggested as causes of the decreased absorption, but none has ever been proven.

Allied to the problem of pneumothorax, we have the question of the effects of hyperpnea. All who have investigated this phase are agreed that hyperpnea increases the rate of pleural absorption. The methods used have been much the same as for pneumothorax and are reliable. We may accept hyperpnea as increasing pleural absorption.

Conclusions as to the effect of other factors are not justified and cannot be based on adequate evidence. One very disturbing feature is that the effect of inflammation has not been evaluated. Again Brock's work is the most comprehensive to date, but must be held in reserve. It is surprising that this has not recieved more attention.

THE CONCEPT OF PLEURAL ABSORPTION

Pleural absorption has been a process quite unappreciated to this date, with the result that no clear concept of this process has been established. That this is the case is understandable and a tribute to the technical difficulties which are so obstinate in this region.

After reviewing the literature of the various phases of this problem, it is apparent that we can state the features of such a process only with the realization of the work which remains undone and the problems which yet face us. It is with the realization that the present evaluation of this process is attempted and only experimentally proven facts are used in the formation of this concept. To say that it is incomplete is an understatement, but with the solution of the remaining problems in the following section we should have a well defined and complete understanding of this process. We may accept pleural absorption as occuring after the following pattern.

When foreign substances in solution (such as colloidal dyes) are injected into the pleural cavity of mammals, that material is spread diffusely over all pleural surfaces. Within a short time two processes are operative in response to the presence of this material. Within one hour, an exudate is present within the pleural cavity. This exudate is composed of polymorphonuclear neutrophilic leukocytes which are phagocytic to the dye particles and of few large.

phagocytic mononuclear cells of unknown origin. The second process operative at this time is the factor of respiratory movements which is also responsible to some degree for the disappearance of the particles of dye from the pleural cavity while causing the dye to bathe all surfaces. At this early stage the differential response of the pleura may be observed, with the mediastinum and pulmonary ligament infiltrated with dye and the remaining pleural surfaces free of dye.

As this process proceeds, we find several gradual changes which occur simultaneously. Over a period of days the number of neutrophiles in the exudate decrease in number with a commensurate increase in the number of macrophages, all of which are phagocytic. Masses of carbon in both types of cells are seen to be clumped together by fibrin and to be "pasted" to the mediastinal pleura by the same substance. This is first marked in the mediastinal pleura, later in the costal pleura. The pleural mesothelial cells become phagocytic in situ and produce some wandering macrophages. At this time a typical inflammatory response is seen in the subpleural tissues, with intense hyperemia. Mediastinal lymph nodes and sternal nodes are observed to contain pigment at this stage. Over long periods of time, dye particles are removed from the pleural surfaces by organization and removal of carbon.

An undetermined amount of the dye is removed via the

efferent lymphatic vessels of the pleural cavity. Some enters these vessels in cells, other particles entering due to some change induced by movements of respiration. In this process, intercostal lymphatics carry the dye to sternal and mediastinal nodes chiefly.

The respiratory movements influence this process, with deep, rapid respirations increasing and pneumothorax decreasing the rate of absorption. Other than this, we do not possess adequate knowledge of other influencing factors.

PROBLEMS REMAINING IN PLEURAL ABSORPTION

The problems which remain unsolved are, unfortunately, the key to the concept of pleural absorption. A brief resume of these problems will be given.

The most annoying of these is our lack of knowledge of how the foreign particles enter the lymphatic channels. By this is meant that the activity of the lymphatic endothelium is not understood. This applies both to carbon within cells and free.

Although we are well aware that the lymphatic system plays a role in the removal of foreign particles from the pleural cavity, the relative role of the blood stream in this process is not known.

The differential response of the pleural mesothelium cannot be explained with the least degree of certainty.

The manner in which respiration influences the efficiency of absorption is not known. Another method of stating this problem is that we do not know just what changes in the lymphatic endothelium (if any) are induced by the changes of shape and volume secondary to the movements of respiration.

The influence of inflammation is not defined.

The nature of the processes in action in the mediastinum are completely obscure as are the pathways. The mediastinum has not been explored in relation to this problem and is the most important area.

The source of the macrophages in the pleural exudate is not known.

The investigation of the lymphatic channels of the costal and mediastinal pleurae should be done microscopically and with great care.

THE PULMONARY LYMPHATICS

A subject which we may well consider is the topic of the complete lymphatic picture of the lung. The importance of this system in relation to pulmonary disease is adequately emphasized, but the anatomy and physiology of this portion of the lymphatic system have not been entirely clarified.

It is interesting that there are two extremes of investigation of the various phases of this system. While the anatomic patterns have been studied since very early times, the physiologic considerations have only recently come into prominence and comprise virtually an unknown field.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE PULMONARY LYMPHATICS

Problems arising in the definition of adult anatomy and in problems arising therefrom can often be answered after a thorough study of the developmental processes and relationships of the given part. While the literature concerning the development of the lymphatic channels within the lung and the efferents of these channels is not voluminous, the work done is very careful and quite informative. This process of development will be reviewed, for in the case of the lung, its understanding clarifies the adult relationships to a considerable extent and forms the basis for some healthy doubts.

The exhaustive investigations of Flint (1906) into the development of the pig lung included the development of the

lymphatics of that organ. He was considerably handicapped by lack of injection methods and serial sections, yet his contribution is not inconsiderable. Flint's study was the de first to approach the understanding of the adult lymphatic system of the lungs through developmental observations. His work is confined to the intrapulmonary lymphatics. At a stage of 3 cm, he found that a few dilated lymphatic vessels are present at the root of the lung, but that they have not yet penetrated the parenchyma. These lymphatics are found to lie near the bronchi and blood vessels. At a stage of 5 cm, however, lymphatics extend for some distance into the developing lung, still being confined to the immediate vicinity of the major bronchi and cheir chief subdivisions. They are fragile structures with valves present in some cases. In more distal portions of the lung, plexuses of these lymphatics are seen to lie midway between the bronchi. having become as far separated from them as possible in the most distal portion of the bronchi. These plexuses reach the pleura at this stage and the lung is given a lobulated appearance, the lymphatics serving as interlobular markings. Valves are seen in the subpleural portions which, in general, point away from the pleura. At the 13 cm stage, obvious plexuses of lymphatic vessels are seen surrounding the bronchi and the large vessels entering the lung. This arrangement is constant as the structures pass into the lung, with interlobular lymphatics following the pulmonary vein as the

periphery of the lung is approached. This forms a dense plexus, with occasional vessels seen entering the lobules of the lung. Until 23 cm is reached, there is no change in this pattern and at this time the first submucous plexuses are seen in the bronchi. These, in brief, are the findings of Flint and seem well borne out by later investigations.

Cunningham (1916) augmented this study with an extremely complete and painstaking observation of the lung lymphatics of the developing embryo pig. His report on this is very comprehensive and exact, but for the sake of brevity only the gross features of his results will be reviewed. In this he combined injection, serial section, and reconstruction in interpreting the developmental changes. Cunningham, who believes that lymphatics are derived from the endothelium of the venous system, states that the lung lymphatics are derived from three sources: The thoracic duct, the right lymphatic (thoracic duct) duct, and the retroperitoneal lymph sac. Arbitrarily, he divides principal developmental stages into the following:

Stage 1 The downgrowth of the right and left ducts from the jugular sacs, and the completion of the primary lymphatic system. This is complete at 2.3 to 3.5 cm.

Stage 2 Includes the migration of the heart; the coasescence of the cardiac and right lung drainage; the formation of the tracheal plexuses and the plexus on the arch of the aorta; the growth of the vessels in the lung from the

earliest sprouts along the bronchi to the primitive pleural plexus and the early marking off of the connective tissue septa; the growth up from the retroperitoneal sac through the ligamentum latum and the anastomosis in the primitive septa into which the vessels grow. Complete at 3.5 to 4.5 cm. Stage 3 The completion of the primary system of the lung; that is when the entire organ is supplied and the further development is an increasing complexity of the plexuses already present, incident to the increase in size of the organ and its assumption of mature activities. During this period the formation of the valves and nodes begins. This stage is complete at 4.5 to 7 cm.

Stage 4 The remainder of the development is considered a period as it is in reality an adaptation of the system already present to the increasing needs of the organ. This includes the differentiation of the drainage lines and the final development of the nodes.

Cunningham found that the thoracic duct was complete at 2.5 cm and at the point where it bends dorsally to pass the arch of the aorta, a bud is given off which passes toward the trachea. Vessels arise at a lower level from the thoracic duct, pass upward toward the trachea, and join the origional bud on the left side. Proliferation of this anastomotic loop (actually a plexus at the time of anastomosis) along the left margin of the trachea gives rise to the origional left tracheal plexus at 3 cm. From this plexus, vessels pass

dorsally and ventrally over the surface of the trachea to unite with a plexus on the right side of the trachea (to be described below). This left tracheal plexus covers the greater portion of the ventral surface of the trachea, and in addition supplies a large portion of the lymphatics which come to cover the right bronchus. While these plexuses are still developing, vessels arise from the buds described above reach the lung at a stage of around 2.8 cm and lie irregularly grouped around the hilus. On the right side, the development is in general similar to that on the left. The right duct, however, passes caudad in very close relationship to the superior vena cava. At the point where this vessel arches ventrad to reach the heart, the duct splits and a definite branch is given off which passes to the heart. A larger continuation of the right duct passes along the right side of the traches to reach the upper lobe of the right lung chiefly (after following the right primary bronchus), but is distributed to other portions of the lung as well. A few vessels arise from the cardiac branch and are distributed mainly to the upper lobe of the right lung. Between 3.3 and 4.5 cm the two tracheal plexuses enastomose freely, dorsally and ventrally and the left duct is clearly seen to give a great number of lymphatics to the inferior surface of the right primary bronchus. In the meantime. the heart is migrating caudally and at 4.5 cm has come to lie at the level of the hilus of the lung. The vessel which

origionally branched off the right duct is no longer distinct and the lymphatics of the heart come to mingle with those of the tracheal plexus at the bifurcation of the trachea and the plexus of lymphatics at the hilus of the right lung.

At 3 cm there are two primary bronchi and two veins and two arteries to either side, one to each upper and lower lobe. From 3.5 cm these branch rapidly and bronchi especially come to occupy a great part of the developing lung. At this stage, the veins are located as far as possible from the distal bronchi while the arteries are very closely associated with these structures. This point becomes of special significance when one considers the position of the pulmonary vein and its associated lymphatics. In the essential points of intrapulmonary development. Cunningham agrees with Flint but he emphasizes several points which do have considerable significance. He emphasizes that lymphatics grow chiefly along the veins of the lung and with this the greater concentration of lymphatics in the perilobular location is explained. Branches growing along the bronchi were observed to grow more slowly than at any other site in the lung. He found that branches were given off to the periphery of the lobule where bronchi branch. In this way the plexuses of the lung are formed, and form in themselves a system of anastomosing lymph vessels. Connective tissue septa develop early.

At a stage of 3.4 cm, vessels were first seen passing

from the retroperitoneal sac through the pulmonary ligament and into the lung. These vessels are distributed almost entirely to the inferior and lateral surfaces of the lower lobes. When these vessels reach the middle of the ligament, they divide into two fork-like plexuses which pass to the surfaces which they will invade. Upon reaching the surface of the lung, they pass into the lung at the interlobular septa and at 4 cm have completely anastomosed with vessels which are already present. It is impossible to differentiate these vessels from those already present at 4 cm. The lower half of the pleura and the lower lobe of the lung are said to be drained by these channels.

The relationships thus demonstrated in the mediastinum were confirmatory to Heuer (1909) and were again found true by Cash (1917).

In his study of the development of the values of the human lung lymphatics, Kampmeier (1928) could find no values before 3.5 months. The first values present were near the hilus of the lung, especially on surfaces in contact with the pericardium. He found that all of these values pointed toward the hilus of the lung. At a slightly later stage, values could be found beneath the pleura which pointed outward at the pleura. The mode of value which pointed outferent than in other vascular channels with values of this sort.

The latest observations on the development of the lung

lymphatics are those of Harvey and Zimmerman (1935). They studied development in a series of human fetuses by means of serial sections and in general confirmed the observations of previous workers as regards the intrapulmonary lymphatics. At a C-H length of 75 mm, however, they found isolated spaces in the subpleural area while vessels were seen in the interlobular septa. These isolated spaces were seen frequently around blood vessels. At a stage of 112 mm these separate plexuses had united and a free connection existed between deep and superficial lymphatics. In addition, Harvey and Zimmerman found evidence of intralobular lymphatic channels at 188 mm. A few suggestive lymph spaces were found in the secondary lobule, but no actual invasion of the lobule was seen. At a C-H length of 248 mm the intralobular system was complete.

At present, the majority of anatomists are in agreement with Sabin (1901) that lymphatic endothelium is derived from venous endothelium by a process of budding and that further growth of lymphatic vessels is centrifugal from the origional points of budding. It is this pattern of development which is used by the first two authors, and to a large extent by the last.

A number of different methods have been used and used by men whose work is quite dependable. As shown, their findings are in general agreement and we may draw some definite conclusions.

From this evidence we must conclude that lymphatic channels enter the lung at the hilus after growth along the trachea and bronchi to that organ. Upon reaching the lung, they grow distally in that organ along the course of the blood vessels and bronchi. The chief concentration of these vessels is along the pulmonary vein, resulting in a profusity of interlobular lymphatic channels. That this peripheral growth is very rapid is evidenced by the fact that the pleural plexus forms while the plexus of the pulmonary vein is not yet complete. Although Harvey and Zimmerman imply an objection to this method of growth in the lobule, this cannot be accepted without qualification. They depended entirely upon serial section, using no injection, and may have failed to observe connection between perivenular and pleural lymphatic plexuses.

With the pattern of growth described, the lobule of the lung becomes outlined by lymphatic channels in a plexus in a plexus arrangement. Within the lobule, lymphatic plexuses grow in relation to the pulmonary artery and bronchi. These lymphatics are not as concentrated as those about the vein and communicate with the perilobular lymphatics, especially at points of bifurcation of the bronchi. Peripheral growth of the lymphatics along the bronchi occurs more slowly than that along blood vessels with the submuccus bronchial lymphatic plexus appearing relatively late. Lymphatics in relation to the very distal parts of the bronchial tree have been

seen only by Harvey and Zimmerman, who believe that they arise as isolated tissue spaces which are secondarily connected to the perilobular lymphatics.

There is adequate evidence in the pig, at least, that the chief lymphatic supply of the lungs is derived from the thoracic duct, with the right lymphatic duct contributing only to the upper and middle portion of the right lung. The question naturally arises as to just how fully this picture as seen in the pig conforms to that of the human. The pattern is probably nearly the same, for the relationships implied in other parts of the development are confirmed in the lung of adult mammals in general, human included.

The significance of the extrapulmonary lymphatic development will be discussed with the gross drainage features.

THE ANATOMY OF THE PULMONARY LYMPHATICS

It is agreed that the lungs present a profuse network of lymphatics which, as will be shown, is quite a paradoxical condition. In this review only the pertinent papers will be reviewed since the general pattern of the lymphatics of the lung is well agreed upon.

According to Miller, Rudbeck (1653) first observed the lymphatic channels of the lung. These were observed in the dog and apparently only a few vessels at the hilus were seen. Miller also states that Thomas Willis (1675), by preventing

the discharge of the contents of the thoracic duct into the subclavian vein in a dog that had eaten and drunk largely, caused the superficial lymphatics of the lung to fill and become very apparent.

Passing over an interval of 100 years, Cruikshank (1790) and Mascagni (1797) both described a superficial and a deep set of lymphatics in the lung, which sets communicated with each other. Both confined their description to the superficial set. This description corresponds to the present concept which has been mentioned.

Again another century passes before the investigation of Wywodzoff (1866). He demonstrated deep lymphatics as arising from fine lymph capillaries situated in the walls of the air spaces, thus introducing a very controversial point in the lymphatics of the lung. These lymph capillaries ran at an angle to the blood capillaries. Larger lymphatics were seen situated in and around the walls of the bronchi and blood vessels. These two sets of lymphatics communicated with each other. Superficial lymphatics were described as destitute of valves, the deep possesing valves. He believed that superficial and deep sets were connected by lymphatic channels which coursed along the pulmonary vein from the pleura to the interior of the lung.

In his first paper on the lymphatics of the lung, Sikorsky (1870) describes a system of fine capillaries and lacunae in the wall of the air spaces, similar to that of Wywodzoff.

He also describes a system of fine capillaries between the ciliated cells lining the bronchi. In a second paper (1872) he makes no reference to these findings and apparently abandoned them.

Sappey (1874) made quite a noteworthy contribution in his description of the markings of the secondary lobules by the pulmonary lymphatics as seen on the surface of the lung. He also described superficial and deep networks which communicated freely.

Klein (1875) described pleural, peribronchial, and perivascular lymphatics. He stated that the arrangement of the lymphatics around the arteries and veins was similar, but that smaller veins were surrounded by perivascular lymph spaces.

Councilman (1900) first observed the perilebular (interlobular) lymphatics, though his descriptions are quite vague.

Miller (1937) presents an excellent summary of our present opinions concerning the morphology of the lung lymphatics. An understanding of the development described leads to a full understanding of the arrangement of these vessels. Miller finds peribronchial, periarterial, perivenous, and interlobular lymphatic networks in addition to the pleural (superficial) lymphatics of the lung. Lymphatics of the bronchi consist of submucous plexuses which anastomose freely with plexuses found surrounding the cartilage of the larger bronchi. Smaller bronchi which have no cartilage in their wells pos-

sess but one plexus and this becomes finer until it is no longer visible at the distal end of the ductuli alveolares. Thus no lymphatic vessels would be found in the walls of the air spaces. The lyjphatics accompanying the pulmonary artery form a complex anastomosing plexus which seems at times to be common to the peribronchial plexus. These vessels also become finer as they pass distally in the lung and can no longer be seen beyond the ductuli alveolares. Smaller divisions of the artery are frequently accompanied by a single lymphatic vessel. The plexus accompanying the pulmonary veins is formed distally in the lung from three sources according to Miller. The distal end of the ductuli alveolares, the point at which bronchi divide, and the pleural network contribute to the formation of these perivenular lymphatics. As the veins increase in size, the complexity of the lymphatic network surrounding them does likewise. Those lymphatics of the interlobular septa form a lattice work between the pulmonary veing, and may actually be considered as a part of the perivenous lymphatics. The lymphatics of the pleura are arranged in irregular polyhedral rings, having four or more unequal sides. Miller states that there is only a single plexus of lymphatics in the pleura, though a pleural and subpleural plexus have been mentioned. The large lymphatics which take part in the formation of these rings mark out the secondary lobules of the lung. Within these, the markings of the primary lobule can be recognized. These lymphatics

of the pleura form a dense plexus, the vessels being freely interconnected but not allowing flow of injected substances into the deep lymphatics due to the presence of numerous valves. These channels unite to form a variable number of trunks which drain into the lymph nodes at the hilum.

It is quite significant that the observations of the pulmonary lymphatics have been made on a number of different mammals and that the same general plan is observed in all. The arrangement of lymphatics of the adult lung correlates beautifully with the findings in the developmental stages and at once becomes apparent with an understanding of the latter.

The morphology of the lymphatics of the adult mammalian lung has been well established and there is no reason why they should be refuted. The pattern has been repeatedly confirmed and the embryologic and histologic bases are established. The conclusions will be given briefly.

The superficial lymphatic plexus and the deep lymphatics are functionally distinct by virtue of their values which prevent deep flow from the superficial set. They cover the entire lung and terminate at the hilus of the lung by uniting with deeper lymphatics of the lung. Each lobule of the lung is outlined by a plexus of lymphatics which is seen to accompany the pulmonary veins. This perilobular plexus is carried to the pleura and by virtue of this arrangement the markings of the lobules may be seen on the pleural surface.

In addition, plexuses of lymphatic vessels accompanying the pulmonary artery and bronchi are present and communicate with the perilobular plexuses.

It is generally agreed that there are no lymphatic channels distal to the alveolar ducts.

The lymphatic channels described (peribronchial, periarterial, and perivenous) unite with the pleural lymphatics at the hilus and pass to the nodes to be described.

The lung is profusely supplied with lymphatic channels.

GROSS LYMPHATIC DRAINAGE OF THE LUNG

The gross lymphatic drainage of the lung is again a subject which has a tremendous importance to the clinician in his treatment of diseases of that organ. The features of this drainage are rather well agreed upon today, with certain notable exceptions which will be discussed below.

Before reviewing these opinions on the pattern of drainage of the lung lymph, it will be well to summarize briefly the developmental pattern described by Cunningham. In doing so, we must realize that his investigations were made on the embryo pig, while the present descriptions apply largely to the human lung. However, it is probable that the pattern of drainage would be essentially the same for mammals in general. If this assumption is correct, we should expect the adult drainage to follow the pathways as laid down in the developing

organism. Cunningham found that the entire supply of lymphatics of the left lung was derived from the throacic duct as were the lymphatics of the inferior portion of the right lung. The cephalic connection of these channels was retained. The superior and middle portions of the right lung recieved the majority of their lymphatics from the right lymphatic duct. The lower portion of both lungs was supplied with lymphatics from the retroperitoneal sac. In our adult pattern, then, we should expect the entire left lung and the more inferior portions of the right lung to be drained through channels which pass along the left surface of the trachea and which empty into the thoracic duct or confluence of lymphatics at the junction of the subclavian and internal jugular veins on the left side. On the right, the superior and greater part of the middle portion of the lung will drain into channels which run along the right side of the trachea to empty into the right lymphatic duct or into the confluence of lymphatics at the junction of the right internal jugular and subclavian veins. Channels would be expected from each lung which drain to the upper abdomen.

The pattern which most anatomists accept today agrees essentially with that above. This is found in anatomy textbooks and in surgery texts in which the pattern of efferent lymphatics of the lung is described. Individual discussion of these references would contribute nothing to this paper and the reader is referred to the texts of Gray, Cunningham,

Morris, or Piersol for further descriptions of this pattern.

Efferent lymphatics of the lung, in their course to the venous system, pass through numerous lymph nodes lying in close approximation to the traches and bronchi. As they pass from the lung at the hilus, they are roughly grouped into peribronchial, perivenular, and periarterial plexuses. In effect, this is a single system due to the numerous anastomoses between the various plexuses of lymphatics. In their course along the bronchi, they pass through the nodes located at the periphery of these structures. Although not specifically stated, it is presumptive that lower lobe lymph passes chiefly to the interbronchial nodes. The channels then pass upward along the course of the trachea, being found on the lateral surface of that structure. In this course they pass into the laterotracheal nodes. These channels. efferents and afferents of the tracheobronchial nodes, collectively form the right and left bronchomediastinal trunks after joining the efferents of the internal mammary and anterior mediastinal lymph nodes. The right bronchomediastinal trunk then may join the right lymphatic duct, but more often opens independently of this duct into the junction of the right internal jugular and subclavian veins. On the left, this trunk may terminate in the thoracic duct, but more often empties independently into the junction of the left internal jugular and subclavian veins. In brief, then, the right lung drains to the right and the left lung to the left.

Drainage of the lung into the upper abdomen is not described. The common autopsy finding of carbon in the tracheobronchial nodes of city dwellers confirms the drainage into the tracheobronchial nodes.

A dissenter to this method of drainage is Rouviere (1938), who finds that the direction of lymph flow from the human lung is chiefly to the right. He states that the inferior half of the left lung and the entire right lung are drained through the right lymphatic duct or the bronchomediastinal trunk. In addition, he divides each lung into upper, middle, and lower portions with each having its own lymphatic drainage into a specific group of nodes. Thus the superior third of the right lung was said to drain into right laterotracheal nodes; the right middle third into the laterotracheal and interbronchial nodes on the right; the inferior area of both the right and left lungs into the interbronchial nodes; the left middle into the interbronchial and left anterior mediastinal nodes; the left superior third into the left laterotracheal, left anterior mediastinal, and nodes on the arch of the aorta. He believes that the interbronchial group drain to the right. Unfortunately, Rouviere does not describe his experimental method by which he concluded the above.

As a result of dissections and intrapleural injections, Petersen and Drinker (1942) speculated briefly that the right lymphatic duct may drain both lungs of the dog, with

the exception of the upper segment of the left lung.

Drinker and Warren (1942) investigated this possibility further by intrabronchial injections of T-1824 into the specific bronchi. Careful precautions were taken that the dye should enter none but the bronchi injeted and all hobes of both lungs.were injected. Right lymphatic and thoracic ducts were cannulated and collected lymph observed for the presence of the dye. After death of the animal, a thorough post mortem examination was done to determine further the fate of the dye. Invariably, they found dye first and in greater concentration in the right duct. Examination of the mesenteric lymphatics about one hour after injection showed them to be slightly stained. In only one case did the dye appear in the thoracic duct, and when seen it was two hours after injection and an hour and a quarter after its appearance in the right duct. Interbronchial nodes were always deeply stained. Drinker and Warren thus believe that the right lymphatic duct carries lymph from both right and left lungs in the dog.

In an examination of a series of 1298 cases of carcinoma of the lung, Oschner and DeBakey (1942) found the tracheobronchial nodes to be involved in 69.7% of cases, far more frequently than any other site. Abdominal nodes were involved in 20.7% of cases. In a series of 3047 other cases, regional lymph nodes were involved in 72.2% of cases.

As a result of this review, three schools of thought

must be evaluated.

We must first examine the conventional picture of lymph drainage from the lung. This is the pattern as described for the human lung and it is unfortunate that we are unable to examine the experimental method and the opinions from which the opinion was formed. Be that as it may, this is the pattern which is accepted as correct and to disprove it experimental evidence must be offered. At present evidence cannot be offered that proves this to be false. This pattern must thus be accepted as true and comfort is gained by the fact that it corresponds most closely to that found in the development of the lung lymphatics of the embryo pig. An attempt to determine the origin of the lymphatics of the human lung is definitely indicated in the clarification of this concept.

We should next examine the observations of Drinker and Warren in their study of the lymphatic drainage of the lungs of the dog. There is no criticism of their experimental method, but it is impossible to state whether this pattern is true for the human. No further proof should be required to establish the drainage pattern of the adult dog. This observation does, however, create some doubt and the problem of the direction of drainage of the lung lymph should be re-opened.

The third feature is the opinion of Rouviere. His opinions as to areas of drainage are very attractive in that they

would offer exact drainage areas and in addition offer lymphatic drainage to the right side in the human. There are, however, two aspects which cast considerable doubt on his ideas. In the first place, we have no idea as to the basis for his opinions and cannot evaluate them. Secondly, the indiscriminate manner in which he crosses the natural boundaries of the lung to create his drainage areas leaves one breathless. Although this is not impossible, it certainly cannot be accepted without a thorough examination of the observations upon which he bases his interpretation. His beliefs are quite a departure from our conventional pattern and it is unfortunate that we are unable to evaluate them.

REMOVAL OF FOREIGN SUBSTANCES BY THE PULMONARY LYMPHATICS

As in other phases of the behavior of lung lymphatics, we are deficient in our knowledge of the reaction of these vessels to foreign substances, specifically colloidal material. Certainly our ideas of the pathogenesis of pulmonary infections must be questioned without it. The rather limited literature on this subject will be considered in an attempt to clarify this somewhat.

That carbon particles injected into the substance of the lung will be found in lymphatics has been adequately proven. Hilton (1933) has found that after injection of a suspension of carbon particles into the lung, the material

may be found in the lymphatics of the lung four months after injection. Earlier stages were not investigated since this work was done for another purpose and this was but a part of the picture obtained.

In more recent work, Drinker, Warren, and McLanahan (1937) injected horse serum, crystallized albumin and crystalized egg albumin into the lung of the dog and attempted to find the method of removal of these substances from the lung. Contrary to their expectations, these substances were removed via the blood stream and not the lymphatics. It is true that this is not acutally particulate matter, but each is composed of very large molecules supposed to be of such size that they must be taken up by lymphatics.

Technical difficulties in obtaining lung lymph have delayed the investigation greatly as concerns mammals, but Gillian and Conklin (1938) have succeded in obtaining lymph from the lung of the indigo snake. The considerable difference in the gross anatomy of this lung from that of the mammal made this possible. A lymphatic at the hilus was cannulated and various substances introduced through the bronchus. Lymph flowing from this cannula was examined after injection. Substances such as hemoglobin and Vital Red that form true solutions in water were readily removed from the lung by lymphatics, the maximum concentration being reached in 30 to 45 minutes after injection. Particulate matter (carmine, hydrokollag, calcite) with particles no greater than two

microns in size was also removed from the lung by lymphatics. It was found issuing from the cannula on an average of 4.25 minutes after injection. They recognized that a small part of the foreign colloid was picked up by phagocytic cells, but due to the time element believed that it must play a very inconsiderable part. They found respiration to be an important factor in movingmatter through the lung of the snake in lymphatic channels. In almost every instance the concentration of the substance in the lymph and the speed of its appearance was in proportion to the rate and depth of respiration.

As a result of the findings of Gillian and Conklin and of Hilton, foreign material in the lung may be concluded to be removed from the lung by lymphatic channels. This is true whether introduced intratracheally or by direct injection into the parenchyma.

It is rather surprising at first glance that Drinker, Warren, and McLanahan would find molecules of such large size to be taken up by blood capillaries rather than by lymphatics. Actually, however, there is no given reason why such substances should enter lymphatic channels in preference to blood vascular channels.

Gillian and Conklin have accomplished a very carefully controlled piece of work and were fortunate in obtaining an animal on which technical difficulties were at a minimum. Their work is quite conclusive, but was carried out on the snake lung. The minor differences between this and the mammalian

lung do not prohibit these findings from being acdepted as true in the mammal. The conclusion that the absorption of colloidal material from the lung is very rapid is justified. The mode of entry here is not known, but does seem very rapid for phagocytosis to play the dominant part. The response to crystalloids is more puzzling. A plausible explanation for this may be the removal of the greater portion of the crystalloid by the blood stream with a lesser amount carried by lymphatics. Corresponding blood levels would have been very helpful in this case. Their observations on the role of the respiratory movements are well borne out by findings in the pleural cavity and may be accepted as true.

PHYSIOLOGIC CONSIDERATIONS: THE FORMATION AND FLOW OF LYMPH IN THE LUNG

Experimental investigation of the physiology of the lymphatic system of the lung has until recently been entirely neglected. This is due to the technical difficulties in the observation of this system in the living animal. It has not been until quite recently that lymph from the lung alone was obtained and until this date we could do no else than base opinions on general knowledge of lung and lymphatic system. Even so, this one experience has only proven that the composition and flow of lymph in the lung can be studied. In general, an entire new field has been opened for study. When one considers the application of such knowledge to a more

thorough understanding of disease of the lungs, he is forced to feel that this problem should be attacked as soon as possible.

There are several great classes of problems in regard to the function and formation of lymph in the lungs. First and foremost, the source of lymph in the lungs must be determined. Secondly, the factors tending to influence the flow of lymph in the lung and the manner in which they act to produce change is as yet unsolved. Allied to this is the effect of pneumothorax. Thirdly, the response of the lymphatics of the lung (previously discussed) is not yet entirely clear. The genesis and resolution of pulmonary exudation is not understood.

The Formation of Lymph in the Lung

. Before considering the literature, the special features of the circulation of the blood in the lung which make the formation of lymph here a physiological problem.

Since Starling (1895-1896) origionated the idea of the passage of water and crystalloids out of the capillaires as a result of the capillary blood pressure and passage into the capillaries as a result of the osmotic pressure of the blood protein, this theory has been generally accepted. Evidence to support him is far too extensive to cover in a paper of this sort, but suffice to say that he has been supported time and again. As applied to the systemic circulation, fluids, crystalloids, and some protein (a very small amount

under normal circumstances) escape the vessel at the proximal end of the capillary loop. This results in a decrease in hydrostatic pressure, an increase in osmotic pressure with the increase in concentration of the contained protein, these changes continuing as the blood passes distally in the capillary. Eventually, the osmotic pressure of the contained protein becomes great enough that fluid and crystalloid are again drawn into the closed circulatory system. As a result of this process tissue fluid is maintained, with some of the capillary filtrate removed by the lymphatics. Drinker and others have shown on numerous occasions that the composition of this tissue fluid is identical to lymph and to plasma (with the exception of non-diffusible substances contained in the blood plasma) and it is by the above mechanism that most authorities hold that lymph is formed.

When the pulmonary circulation is considered, however, its differences from the systemic circulation become apparent at once. A large amount of blood is delivered to the pulmonary capillaries under a relatively low head of pressure and to a circulation which does not readily accomodate itself to changes in pressure. A low peripheral resistance is offered to this flow of blood under low pressure. These modifications are acrried to such an extent that the osmotic pressure of the blood in the pulmonary capillaries exceeds the hydrostatic pressure. Under such circumstances it becomes theoretically

impossible that fluid should escape the pulmonary capillaries, with the result that lymph would not be expected to be formed from the pulmonary capillaries. This in spite of the fact that lymphatics are found in great numbers in the lung. The bronchial circulation, which follows the pattern of the systemic circulation, would be expected to form lymph but in rather small amounts.

Attempts by Drinker (1931) to obtain lymph from the lung failed and the above concept seemed to be supported. In this effort, he cannulated the right lymphatic duct of the dog (which should contain largely lung lymph if cannulated in the right place) and failed to obtain more then a very slight amount of lymph. Repeated attempts to cannulate lymphatics at the hilus of the lung failed due to technical difficulties until Drinker and Warren (1942) successfully cannulated lymphatic channels in the pulmonary ligament of the dog. It must be understood that this does not represent the total lymph flow from the lung and probably not even a major portion of The cannulation was done under conditions of pneumothorax it. by necessity, but positive pressure respiration was maintained and expansion of the lungs and respiratory rate were kept as near normal as possible. Drinker and Warren obtained what they considered a large amount of lymph from a channel of such size and with their considerable amount of work on these procedures there is little doubt that they considered correctly. In a series of 18 dogs, lymph flow was constant under these

circumstances though the amount of lymph varied considerably in different animals. The average composition of the lymph collected averaged as follows: Protein 3.66 gm% (range of 2.81 to4.65 gm%); albumin-globulin ratio equal to that of blood and lymph from other regions; fibrinogen was present and lymph clotted; lymphocytes 22,206, somewhat higher than normal, but explained by the fact that lymph had passed through several nodes; red blood cells 9,553 per cmm, much higher than normal, but probably due to the faulty technique in the first operations, for the last ones showed no red blood cells.

It is seen that lymph is formed in the lung and probably in considerable amounts. These efforts by Drinker and Warren answer only that question. It is impossible to conclude definitely the source of this lymph, but in the amounts described it is probably formed in large part from a source other than the bronchial circulation. The only solution lies in further investigation.

Factors Controlling Pulmonary Lymph Flow

Here, as in the preceding section, we have but one piece of experimental evidence upon which to base any opinion. It is true that most workers have concluded that movements of respiration play an essential part in the movement of lymph through the lung, but actual experimental proof had never been given. The circumstantial evidence will be discussed in the following section.

Drinker and Warren (1942) attempted to determine the effect of some conditions on the lymph flow from the lung. They found the following:

Increased pulmonary ventillation (increase in oxygen supplied to the lung with respirations held constant) was found to decrease the flow of lymph from the lung. This cannot be construed as analogous to increased pulmonary ventillation in the intact animal, since the mechanism is entirely different in the latter.

Continuous intratracheal insufflation (with lungs held just beneath the position of full inspiration), in which the only massage could be caused by motion of the heart, caused an immediate and sharp drop in the flow of lymph, but did not stop the flow entirely.

Reduced oxygen (8.6% oxygen with 91.4% nitrogen for about one hour while respiratory movements were held constant) caused an immediate and sharp increase in the amount of lymph flowing from the lung. When the normal amount of oxygen was again made available, lymph flow returned immediately to normal. Though carbon dioxide content was markedly lowered during this phase, but it was later shown that oxygen lack alone was responsible.

Increased pulmonary blood pressure (induced by compression of the pulmonary vein) was followed immediately by a considerable increase in the flow of lymph. Definite oxygen lack was induced by this measure and the normal capillary pressure rela-

tionships of the pulmonary capillaries were certainly disturbed.

The main virtue of the findings presented here is in their value as a further stimulation to research on this problem. While incomplete they do serve as some indication of the processes which influence the lymph formation and lymph flow in the lung.

It may definitely be concluded that movements of respiration are vital to the flow of lymph in the lung. As is true of the thoracic cavity in general, increased respiratory movement increases the amount of lymph flowing from a cannula. The observation that lackief these movements decreases the flow of lymph adds to this conclusion. Anoxia of severe degrees may be concluded to increase the flow of lymph in the lungs just as it does in other parts of the body. The significance of the fact that increased pressure in the pulmonary artery increases the lymph flow in the lung is rather dubious. It does not offer any explanation as to whether lymph is normally formed from the pulmonary circulation, since the pressure relationships are badly upset by such an experiment. Although it is probably quite safe to say that the pulmonary circulation may form lymph when the hydrostatic pressure is increased, the behavior of the bronchial circulation under this circumstance is not known. As a consequence, the source of this increased lymph cannot be stated definitely. The Effect of Pneumothorax on Lymph Flow in the Lung

There is adequate evidence that pneumothorax decreases the flow of lymph in the pleural cavity (and probably the thorax in general), but the specific study of the effect of this condition on the lymphatics of the lung has not been adequately evaluated. With the very frequent use of pneumothorax in the treatment of pulmonary disease, it would seem advisable that a review of our present knowledge should be undertaken. There is only the bare minimum of literature upon which to base any conclusion.

Shingo (1908) in working with rabbits and cats, induced the inhalation of soot and attempted to determine the effect of pneumothorax on the fate of this material. In animals with unilateral pneumothorax, the time required for removal of the foreign material was greatly prolonged. He attributed this to the immobilizing effect of the pneumothorax on the expansion of the lung. This, in his opinion, reduced the efficiency of lymph drainage from the lung.

Hilton (1933) attempted to determine the mechanism of pneumothorax, using rabbits as the experimental animal. Finely suspended carbon particles were injected into the trachea, followed immediately by collapse of one lung by artificial pneumothorax. At four months, controls showed the carbon largely removed, though phagocytes in the alveolar wall still contained some particles. With pneumothorax, much more of the material remained in the lung. It was grossly visible in this case. Lymphatic channels of the lung were seen to

contain large amounts of carbon particles, especially toward the hilus and were grossly dilated on the side of pneumothorax. Some fibrosis around the lymphatic channels was observed. Hilton believed that lymphatic obstruction was the most logical explanation for the dilatation of the lymphatic channels.

From the evidence offered, it is fair to conclude that pneumothorax decreases the flow of lymph in the lung. That it enters the lymphatics is shown by Hilton, and the above conclusion is justified. Just what effect pneumothorax has on the entrance of these particles into the lymphatics is not known.

THE TOTAL CONCEPT OF PULMONARY LYMPHATICS

Our present concept of the morphology and function of the pulmonary lymphatics has been implied as nearly complete in some respects and almost totally incomplete in others. The previous review of the literature has shown the situation in the various phases. The concept will be summarized for the mammalian lung as it is formed on the basis of experimental investigation.

The lymphatic channels of the lung are derived from the right and left thoracic ducts of the embryo and grow to the lungs along the traches and bronchi. Upon entering the lung at the hilus, they grow peripherally in relation to the pul-

monary blood vessels and bronchi. The greatest amount of lymphatics develop along the pulmonary veins with the result that there is a profusity of lymphatics in the perilobular position. These channels reach the pleura and the pleural plexus is developed very early, with the result that the lobule is outlined very early. Growth of channels along the pulmonary artery and bronchi proceeds more slowly. Anastomoses are seen early between lymphatics at the periphery and core of the lobule. No lymphatics are seen distal to the alveolar ducts. In the pig, at least, the thoracic duct supplies lymphatics to the entire left lung and to the inferior portion of the right lung.

As a result of these developmental observations and of repeated examinations of the adult lung the knowledge of the morphology of the adult lymphatics is established. They are profuse in the mammalian lung and are found in four chief locations: Perilobularly (perivenous lymphatics); periarterial; peribronchial; and pleural. By this arrangement the lobule of the lung is surrounded by a profuse plexus of perivenous lymphatics and contains a core of lymphatic vessels in relationship to the pulmonary artery and bronchi. In addition, the lymphatics of the lung are divided into a superficial (pleural) and a deep set (parenchyma of the lung) by a large number of valves which prevent the flow of lymph from superficial to deep networks. Although these channels are described as located in four principal locations, they are united by

numerous anastomotic vessels which in effect create a single system of anastomosing lymphatic vessels in the lung. There are no lymphatic vessels distal to the alveolar duct.

Superficial and deep lymphatics unite at the hilus of the lung. They are continued as peribronchial, periarterial, and perivenous lymphatics. There are numerous anastomoses between these networks. The efferent lymphatic vessels pass to the tracheobronchial lymph nodes which lie near the trachea and bronchi. With some reservation, the lymph from the right lung may be accepted as entering the venous system through the right lymphatic duct and that from the left through the thoracic duct.

Any opinion on the physiology of these pulmonary lymphatics is not on firm basis. One function of the lymphatics of the lung is the removal of colloidal particles foreign to the lung. The rate of removal of these substances is relatively rapid, this rate being dependent on the respiratory excursion of the lung. It is proportional to the rate of respiration and its depth. Crystalloids are also removed by lung lymphatics.

Lymph is formed in the lung, a statement shown to be significant. The flow of this lymph in the lung is dependent in large extent on the respiratory excursion of the lung. Anoxia increases the flow of lymph.

PROBLEMS REMAINING IN PULMONARY LYMPHATICS

Fortunately, problems remaining in pulmonary lymphatics are not so numerous as those in pleural absorption. They are centered chiefly around the physiology of these channels.

The source of the pulmonary lymphatics should be studied in the human, and the correlation of developmental pattern and adult drainage should be attempted in the same animal. In this way the adult drainage of the human lung may be better evaluated.

Although accepted that there are no lymphatic channels distal to the alveolar ducts, this portion of the pulmonary lymphatic system should be further investigated. This becomes apparent when it is shown that intratracheal colloidal dyes are seen in the pulmonary lymphatics. The pathway from alveolus to pulmonary lymphatics should be determined. In so doing, the problem of absorption from the lung will be clarified.

The source of the lymph of the lung is also deserving of further investigation. Although we now know that lymph is formed in the lung, it has not definitely been proved as origionating from the pulmonary circulation.

The factors which control the formation and flow of lymph in the lung require clarification.

The composition and flow of lymph from the lung preuin need of definition.

The transmission of bacteria within the lung lymphatics

and the role of the lymphatics in pathogenesis of bacterial infections is a pathological study, but fits in well with investigation of the function of pulmonary lymphatics.

THE CARDIAC LYMPHATICS

The lymphatic system of the heart has been far overshadowed by almost all other phases of the anatomy and physiology of this organ.

That this is so is quite understandable. The lymphatic system here, as elsewhere, performs a function which is not understood and one which may not even be vital to the integrity of the organ. In the hope that a pattern for future reference may be established, the present knowledge of cardiac knowledge will be reviewed and evaluated in an attempt to establish better understanding of the lymphatic system of this organ.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE CARDIAC LYMPHATICS

Here, as in the lung, it seems advisable that developmental processes which lead to the adult form should be reviewed. In general, this topic has not recieved much emphasis. However, for a comprehensive picture of the cardiac lymphatics this should be understood.

To return momentarily to Cunningham's (1916) paper on the development of the lung lymphatics, his findings on the relationships of the right lymphatic duct will be considered. He states that the right lymphatic duct gives off a large branch to the heart, which branch passes along the vena cava to reach that organ. After reaching the base of the heart, this vessel passes around the bulbus to reach the anterior

surface. Here it divides to form the primitive pericardial plexus. Cunningham makes no further remarks about this vessel, but states that other branches from the thoracic duct also pass to the heart. In view of the fact that the heart migrates caudad to such a point that its lymphatic channels are lost in the maze around the tracheal bifuraction and root of the right lung, it is impossible to make predictions as to the direction of drainage.

Because he felt that extensive lymphatic injections into the adult heart were impossible due to valves, Cash (1917) first approached the understanding of the lymphatic system of the heart from the developmental viewpoint. The injection method provided most of his preparations. Lymphatics of the heart (embryo pig) were fount to origionate from the right lymphatic duct and from the tracheal plexus, the greater number of channels arising from the right duct. The vessel from this duct was found to be joined by a smaller vessel from the tracheal plexus. These vessels pass together posteriorly under the pulmonary artery, lying between it and the left auricle to the auriculo-ventricular groove. Here, on the anterior surface of the heart, they form a plexus which gives rise to two main branches. These in turn divide to form the pericardial plexus, which covers the entire heart. After the pericardial plexus is formed, vessels invade the myocardium at a size of 150 mm. The myocardial plexus becomes less dense as deeper parts of the myocardium are reached. Cash finds no

evidence of a sub-endocardial lymphatic plexus and believes that such has been mistaken for the injected bundle of His. The chief development of lymphatics occurs around the larger blood vessels.

In his general study of the development of the valves of the human lymphatic and blood vascular systems, Kampmeier (1928) did not find that the right lymphatic duct contributed to the developing lymphatics of the heart. He found the primary lymphatic vessel to the heart to origionate from the thoracic duct. This channel passes between the pulmonary artery and aorta, then ventral to the latter and along the coronary artery. The other vessel to the heart was found to be a derivative of the pretracheal lymphatic plexus. It was seen to pass behind and to the left of the pulmonary artery, then along the left coronary artery. Kampmeier believes that these channels are retained as the adult efferents. During the third month a net of growing vessels from these primary channels was seen to cover the entire heart. That over the auricles was seen to be less complete than over the ventricles. He agrees with Cash in the method of formation of the myocardial plexus, but makes no statement as to the subendocardial lymphatics.

Valves were first seen by Kampmeier at the end of the third month, being present in the primitive pericardial plexus. Most valves at this stage were seen along the larger cardiac vessels. Subsequently valves spring up in the myocardial

plexus but in smaller numbers. In the fetus, more valves were found on the anterior than on the diaphragmatic surface. With few exceptions, valves occured only in the ventricular portion and none were seen deep in the myocardium.

In review of the above findings, it is seen that controversy exists concerning the right lymphatic duct as a source of cardiac lymphatics. Kampmeier does not agree that the right duct is a source, but states that the pretracheal plexus gives some lymphatics to the heart. This plexus, according to Cunningham, arises chiefly from the thoracic duct. There are two possible reasons for the source of controversy. First, different methods were used. Secondly, different animals were studied. As a result, it is not even known that the two are comparable and the findings of Kampmeier may be accepted as true for the human and those of Gash as true for the pig.

Cash and Kampmeier agree that the myocardial plexus is derived from the pericardial and that this plexus is complete before the myocardial is developed. This finding may be accepted as true. In addition, the conclusion that the ventricle is more profusely supplied is justified since it is well substantiated. The observation that no subendocardial lymphatics develop should be held in doubt, since adult studies show such a plexus to be present. Cash was unable to inject the cardiac lymphatics in embryos over 65 mm and it is possible that the subendocardial lymphatics may be a later development. Valves

have been proven to develop quite early, those of the pericardial plexus appearing first.

THE ANATOMY OF THE CARDIAC LYMPHATICS

The first recorded observation of these lymphatics is that of Rudbeck (1653). He dissected a few subepicardial lymphatics of the dog and found that they terminated in some small mediastinal lymph nodes.

After the discovery by Fohmann (1833) that lymphatics could be injected by the indirect or puncture method, the investigation of the lymphatic channels was made much simpler and more accurate. A student of his, Lauth (1830), first used this method to investigate the structure and presence of the subendocardial lymphatics. He injected mercury indirectly into the lymphatics of the horse heart and found a superficial plexus of large anastomosing vessels in the epicardium. A deep plexus of smaller vessels closely applied to myocardium were also seen. He noted no communication between the plexuses. He asserted that the deep vessels lie parallel to the muscle fibers and were united by other vessels lying at right angles to the muscle fibers.

Gurlt (1844) reported the presence of large subepicardial lymphatics in the horse and Leyh (1859), who also studied the lymphatics of the horse, pointed out the presence of deep lymphatics in the myocardium. Teichmann (1861), using colored

starch by indirect injection of lymphatic channels, noted only the presence of subepicardial lymphatics and did not describe them.

Two years later, His (1863) described subepicardial lymphatics lying directly on the myocardium and which were interconnected. He confirmed the lymphatics of the myocardium described by Leyh. Luschka (1863) also reported this deep plexus of the myocardium. He found that these vessels passed into subepicardial lymphatics which were located in the longitudinal sulci on the vortex of the heart. Eberth and Belajeff (1866), in a study of both human and other mammalian hearts, substantiated these findings in general but found a less dense plexus than that described by Luschka. Subendocardial lymphatic plexuses were claimed by these workers, who state that there is no noticeable difference between epicardial and endocardial lymphatics. Their subendocardial lymphatic plexuses were described as extending into the ventricular and semilunar valves. They injected blood vessels directly with colored solutions to differentiate them from lymphatics.

Quite a different school of thought on cardiac lymphatics was introduced by Henle (1868). He concluded that intermuscular fissures and spaces convey the cardiac lymph, on what basis cannot be determined at this time. However, Schweigger-Seidel (1871) also likened the heart muscle to a "lymph sponge". In the same year, Wedl (1871) confirmed the former findings

of closed lymphatic channels on observations of the epicardium. Skvartzoff (1874), by indirect injection, found the myocardium to contain endothelial lined channels emptying into the subepicardial plexus. He was not successful in outlining subendocardial lymphatics. By the same method of study, Skowrzow (1874) described unlined lymph spaces which emptied directly into the subepicardial lymphatics and stated that subpicardial lymphatics were connected with the pericardial cavity by lymph spaces which pierce the epicardium. Bizzozero and Salvioli (1878) confirmed this. Salvioli alone (1878), using the indirect injection method was unable to inject lymph spaces and denied their existence.

Sappey (1885) again found and described an extensive subendocardial plexus which was united to the subepicardial lymphatics by vessels which passed between the muscle bundles of the myocardium. By direct mercury injection he found these vessels macroscopically visible in the heart of the horse and the calf and found them to cover completely the walls of the cavities. These vessels formed a loose meshed network. Bianchi (1886), returning to the indirect method, was unable to demonstrate lymphatic channels and returned to the idea of the lymph spange.

The first physiological method used was that of Albrecht (1887), who injected colored substances into the myocardium of the living animal allowing the dye to be disseminated by the contractions of the heart alone. He reached the conclusion

that a widespread endothelial lined lymph capillary system is present in the heart. Capillaries were seen which lay at right angles to the long axis of the muscle fibers and surrounded each individual fiber. Masini (1887) and Ranvier (1889), using methods not described, returned to the idea of the lymph sponge.

In an attempt to resolve the controversy between lymph channels and lymph spaces, Nystrom (1897) employed the indirect injection, modified Golgi impregnation, and uninjected microscopic sections. He reached the conclusion that both lined and unlined lymph spaces were present. He inferred, although he demonstrated none, that open communications existed between the two systems. He also briefly described subepicardial and subendocardial lymphatics and likened them to those described by Sappey.

Bock (1905), whose findings are generally accepted today, performed the most exhaustive study of the cardiac lymphatics to that date. He used indirect injection of lymphatics while perfusing the blood vessels with different colored solutions after blood was removed. Berlin blue was then injected under heavy pressure into the myocardium to inject lymphatics. The injected areas were then removed and sectioned. His description of lymphatics is, unfortunately, limited to the myocardium. Bock found a very profuse network of lymphatics lying adjacent to the blood vessels. Lymphatic vessels were seen to outnumber blood vessels and every muscle fiber had one or two

lymphatic vessels following it. He found absolutely no connection between the two systems. In this way he met the criticism of confusion of blood and lymph channels on microscopic examination of the tissue.

Another differential examination was accomplished by Aagaard and Hall (1914), who directly injected the Furkinje system and attempted indirect injection of the subendocardial lymphatics. They stated that confusion between the Purkinje injections and the lymphatic injections does not exist, but that confusion between lymphatics and veins is possible. According to these authors, lymphatics of the endocardium lie superficial to the Furkinje fibers and, in part, parallel them. No communications between the two systems were found. In their injections of the Purkinje system with mercury, they claim to have duplicated the results of Sappey.

In addition to his study of the development of the cardiac lymphatics, Cash (1917) also attempted india ink injections into the myocardium of the live, anesthetized cat. He contended that the myocardial lymphatics formed a well woven plexus of vessels, the smallest of which were larger than blood capillaries. In accordance with his findings in the development of cardiac lymphatics, he found that vessels became fewer and smaller as the endocardium was approached. Cash was unable to inject any endocardial lymphatics and believes that all such claims are based on injections of the bundle of His.

Aagaard (1924) presented an extremely detailed investigation of cardiac lymphatics in man and some animals. His conclusions were based on the direct injection method. The myocardial plexus was said to consist of an interfascicular plexus of vessels of varying diameters. The smaller vessels paralleled, for the most part, the direction of the muscle fibers and were drained into the subepicardial lymphatics. His remarks on the subendocardial lymphatics were a repitition of his earlier findings with Hall.

Returning to the more physiological method of intracardiac injection into the living heart, Patek (1939) attempted to a define the cardiac lymphatics of rabbits, cats, and dogs. Carbon suspensions were injected into the active heart and after sacrificing the animal, coronary blood vessels were injected directly with Ranvier's Prussian Blue solution in order to differentiate them. Gross and microscopic studies formed the basis for description. Patek found both lymph capillaries and collecting vessels in the epicardium, with collecting vessels following the course of the blood vessels. The myocardium is described as possessing a lymphatic capillary network uniform in density from subepicardium to subendocardium, with vessels lying in the interfascicular connective tissue and surrounding the muscle bundles. They accompany blood vessels and form an interconnecting plexus. The subendocardial lymphatic plexus was described as similar to the myocardial plexus, being formed entirely of capillaries. They lie in a single

plane parallel to the surface of the endocardium and lie always superficial to the Purkinje system. The injected areas were in relationship to the longitudinal muscle columns of the ventricle. Lymphatic capillaries continuous with those of the papillary muscles were seen to accompany the chordae tendinae were seen to extend for a few millimeters. No lymphatics were found on the ventricular valves. In no instance were connections between the Purkinje system and the lymphatics observed. Kampmeier's findings on the valves of the lymphatics were substantiated.

In evaluating this literature, there is one obvious question which must first be answered. Are endothelial lined lymph vessels present in the heart? This question may definitely be answered in the affirmative, as there is abundant evidence for it in the literature reviewed. The question of unlined lymph spaces is more difficult to answer, for descriptions of the experimental method and results are lacking. It is to be noted, however, that the concept of the lymph space attracted no investigation after 1889 and this is apparently an idea entertained only by earlier investigators. Following only indirect injection into the non-functioning heart, it is quite easy to see how extravascular injected material could be construed as lying in unorganized lymph spaces and these spaces taken as the lymph pathways of the heart. Evidence to disprove the lymph space is scanty, but it is quite probable that the lymphatic system of the heart is composed solely of

endothelial lined lymphatic vessels.

The presence of the subepicardial lymphatic plexus first described by Rudbeck has been well documented by every investigator who has sought to prove the presence of such a plexus. In this, as in other phases of cardiac lymphatics, the method most commonly used has been indirect injection of the lymphatic channels. If properly performed, there is no real objection to such a procedure, but a more satisfactory method is the injection of foreign material into the living heart under low pressure and allowing the filling of the lymphatics to proceed naturally. Direct injection of the blood vessels adds further accuracy. All of these methods have confirmed the presence of subepicardial lymphatics. This plexus is composed of collecting vessels and capillaries which communicate with the myocardial plexus. It is found in the connective tissue beneath the serous membrane surrounding the myocardium and the vessels lie very closely adjacent to muscle fibers in the deeper part of the plexus. Although these vessels communicate freely with the myocardial plexus, a large number of valves permit flow only into the superficial plexus. The fine channels of the subepicardial plexus unite to form the larger efferent lymphatics of the heart.

The myocardial plexus may also be described with some accuracy. Although earlier investigators were rather unspecific and expressed some doubt as to the profusity of such a plexus, later observers have established this as a rich plexus which

surrounds the muscle bundles and fibers completely. The myocardial plexus may be accepted as formed of capillaries closely applied to muscle fibers and adjacent to blood vessels. They are located in the ventricles with few if any present in the auricles. These capillaries may be accepted as being in very free communication with the subepicardial and subendocardial lymphatic plexuses.

The bulk of evidence presented by those who have expressed opinion favors the presence of a subendocardial lymphatic plexus. Cash is the only one who has recorded his failure to observe such a plexus when it was sought. Patek and others, using methods identical to Cash's, have reported the presence of such a plexus and it would seem that the work of Cash could be re-checked for a better evaluation. His contention that the bundle of His has been confused with the subendocardial plexus is disproved by Aagaard and Hall and by Patek, who give descriptions of both. The subendocardial lymphatic plexus may be accepted as lying superficial to the Purkinje fibers and in part parallel to them, with no communication between them. The subendocardial plexus covers the entire interior of the heart and is composed of capillaries just beneath the endocardium. This system does not continue into the ventricular valves, but may be seen over the papillary muscle and proximal portion of the chordae tendinae.

GROSS LYMPHATIC DRAINAGE OF THE HEART

In contrast to the investigation of the lymphatic networks of the heart proper, the study of the efferent lymphatics of that organ and their nodes of termination has not recieved a great deal of attention. With one exception, all accounts are in the nature of a summary and the experimental method is not defined.

It is agreed that the heart proper is divided into areas which drain the right and left ventricles. Two main drainage trunks are described, named right and left by most authors according to the area drained.

Concerning the relationships of the right duct there has been some disagreement. Poirer, Cuneo, and Delamere (1903), after describing the origin of the right trunk in the right portion of the auriculo-ventricular groove, state that it lies on the anterior surface of the heart and ascends between the pulmonary artery and aorta. Bartels (1909) implies an anterior direction of flow as he finds that the right stem accompanies the right coronary artery to its origin and passes over the arch of the aorta. Of the standard anatomy texts, Morris agrees with this statement entirely. Gray, however, differs in that he describes the right lymphatic trunk as ascending in the posterior longitudinal sulcus, then running forward in the coronary sulcus and passing up behind the pulmonary artery. Piersol fails to distinguish between right and left lymphatic

drainage trunks. He notes the formation of a large vessel in the anterior interventricular groove. On reaching the auriculo-ventricular groove, a vessel is described as bending to the left after its formation on the inferior surface of the heart. These two vessels then unite and the conjoined trunk passes upward along the posterior surface of the pulmonary artery, perforating the parietal pericardium in its passage. A similar independent trunk is described as arising on the right side of the right ventricle, passing parallel to the above trunk. Shore (1928), using indirect injection into fresh human hearts, substitutes the term "anterior" for right and states that this trunk lies on the anterior surface of the aorta. Patek (1939), in investigating the dog heart, concludes that vessels of several orders units to form one large drainage channel which passes upward on the anterior surface of the pulmonary artery.

There exists similar confusion on the relationships of the left lymphatic efferent. Poirer, Cuneo, and Delamere (1903) and Gray are in agreement as to the relationships of this trunk, stating that the vessel ascends between the pulmonary artery and the left atrium. A posterior relationship to the pulmonary artery is thus suggested. Bartels (1909) modifies this description somewhat by finding that the left trunk proceeds backwards and outward below the pulmonary artery. It then passes under the aortic arch to an anterior position in the mediastinum. Morris merely states that the vessel passes be-

hind the arch of the aorta to a destination which is presumed to be anterior. Shore (1928) finds that the efferent of the left ventricle takes a posterior course, passing behind the pulmonary artery.

The lymph nodes in which these cardiac efferent lymphatics terminate are located in the anterior mediastinal and (or) tracheobronchial group. Morris and Bartels (1909) find that the anterior mediastinal nodes are the point of termination of the cardiac lymphatics. Shore (1928) believes that only the anterior (right) lymph trunk terminates in this group of nodes. Poirer, Cuneo, and Delamere (1903), as well as Piersol, state that the lymphatic drainage of the heart is to the interbronchial nodes, with which Shore disagrees. Gray states nonspecifically that drainage is to the tracheobronchial nodes. Shore (1928) believes that the drainage of the left ventricle (posterior trunk) is directed into an extrapericardial node which is a member of the right superior tracheobronchial broup.

The situation here is quite analogous to that which was seen in the lung. In this case, however, the descriptions given are less specific. In addition, as a basis for subscribing to such beliefs, one can only site the fact that they are generally accepted and can be found in a textbook of anatomy, a weak basis at best.

Shore's investigation has been rather carefully done and is deserving of some attention. For such gross observation,

there is no objection to very forceful injections into the myocardium. In addition, Shore used fresh human hearts in which no pathology was present. His conclusions may be accepted as the lymphatic drainage of the human heart. They are quoted directly:

"The lymph drainage of the right ventricle is directed by an anterior lymph trunk to an extrapericardial group of lymph flands that lie in the superior mediastinum in relation to the left innominate vein. The lymph drainage of the left ventricle is directed by a posterior trunk to an extrapericardial gland which is a member of the right superior tracheobronchial group and lies in close relation to the superior vena cava, the aorta, and the right pulmonary artery."

REMOVAL OF FOREIGN SUBSTANCES BY CARDIAC LYMPHATICS

This phase, as such, has recieved no particular attention as concerns cardiac lymphatics. The mechanism of entry of the foreing particles (india ink, etc.) has not as yet been studied. It would seem, however, that the very rapid disappearance of carbon from the actively contracting heart would indicate that phagocytosis does not play an important part. It is only a matter of seconds until carbon first is seen in lymphatics after injection.

This section is hardly deserving of comment, but in

passing it may be said that the problems of entry of foreign particles into the lymphatic system here are probably no different than in other regions. This is not a particularly vital phase of the cardiac lymphatic picture and the findings of such a study in the heart would probably indicate no different mechanism than in the diaphragm, for example, which is a much more convenient organ for study.

PHYSIOLOGIC CONSIDERATIONS OF CARDIAC LYMPHATICS

The physiology of the cardiac lymphatics has not been adequately determined. It would seem that the heart should be almost ideal for the study of lymph flow and the conditions affecting it, but it has apparently not been used as such.

The first recorded statements on the physiology of the cardiac lymphatics are those of Kampmeier (1928). After studying the valves of the lymphatics of the heart, he believes that the flow of lymph in the heart is from the depth of the heart to the exterior, thence to and through channels located in the furrows and into the efferent lymphatics of the heart. After filtering through one or more nodes, it then enters the blood stream. He postulates that during systole the muscular contraction forces lymph from the myocardial into the subepicardial plexus. This would be facilitated by the relaxation of the pericardium and the consequent augmentation of its

lymph channels occuring when the ventricular diameter diminishes during the beat. He finds it evident that the extensiveness of the subspicardial lymphatic plexus is not the expression of any vigorous metabolism within the epicardium, but is of service as a lymph resorvior in close periodic sequence. Kampmeier also believes that the flow of lymph from the heart is relatively constant for both systole and diastole would tend to sustain it: Systole because of the shortening of the heart from apex to base; diastole because of the stretching of the pericardium during the filling of the heart. The factors tending to induce backward flow of lymph during the cardiac cycle include the sucking action of the lax myocardium. Kampmeier believes that the cardiac lymphatics function simply as a drainage system for products of cellular metabolism which are not taken up by blood vessels.

Patek (1939) feels that the physiology of the cardiac lymphatics has been well explained by Kampmeier. He feels that the very frequently seen lakes of dye seen in the subepicardial plexus indicate that these vessels do serve as a resorvoir. He adds that the venous pressure during diastole may force lymph through myocardial lymphatics by virtue of increased formation of lymph.

Drinker and Yoffey (1941), after cannulating efferent lymphatics of the heart, came to the conclusion that the flow of lymph from the heart was increased with increased activity.

Kampmeier's suggestions concerning the manner in which

lymph is propelled in the heart, while quite feasable in most respects, are entirely lacking in experimental proof. His general opinion is quite shrewd.

There can be no doubt that lymph flow is directed from the myocardial and subendocardial plexuses into the subepicardial plexus. Patek and others have often observed lakes of injected matarial in the subepicardial plexus. In addition this plexus is far to large for the requirements of the connective tissue in which it lies. In addition, the only large lymphatic collecting vessels are seen on the external surface of the heart and these vessels have been shown to terminate in nodes.

It is logical to believe that systole should empty the cardiac lymphatics into the subepicardial plexus in the same way that blood is forced from the blood vessels of the myocardium. Arguments pro and con may be expressed on the effect of diastole on the volume of the subepicardial lymphatics and consequently on the fate of lymph in these vessels during that phase. A valuable conclusion cannot be reached at present.

That more lymph should be produced during increased functional activity is in full accord with present concepts of lymph formation.

THE TOTAL CONCEPT OF CARDIAC LYMPHATICS

Cardiac lymphatic channels are derived from the mediastinal

lymphatic channels, notably the thoracic duct of the human embryo. These channels provide lymphatics also to the lungs, with the result that the lymphatic drainage of these organs is confluent. From these channels, vessels grow onto the surface of the heart and cover it in the form of a pericardial plexus. From this superficial plexus, lymphatics grow into the myocardium with the ventricles recieving the preponderance of vessels. Valves appear early which functionally separate myocardial and pericardial plexuses.

Endothelial lined lymphatic vessels are present in the mammalian heart. These vessels are found in plexiform arrangement in three principal locations: Subepicardial; myocardial; and subendocardial. The subepicardial plexus is a very rich network of vessels composed of capillaries and colecting vessels which covers the heart. This plexus is anatomically continuous with, but functionally separate from the myocardial plexus by virtue of a set of valves which permits flow only superficially into the subepicardial from the myocardial plexus. Vessels of the subepicardial plexus unite to form the large efferent lymphatic channels of the heart. The myocardial lymphatics are very profuse and are found in plexiform arrangement around muscle fibers and in association with the finer myocardial blood vessels. They are closely applied to each individual muscle fiber. On their deeper margin, the myocardial lymphatics communicate with the subendocardial lymphatics. The subendocardial plexus is found just beneath

the endothelium lining the cavity of the heart. It lies chiefly in one plane and is composed of capillaries only. They lie superficial to the Purkinje system and are continuous with the myocardial plexus. Subendocardial lymphatic vessels are not found on the ventricular valves, but extend for short distances on the proximal portion of the chordae tendinae.

Grossly, the heart is divided into two drainage areas, right and left. For each of these areas, there is a rather large efferent lymphatic. The lymphatic efferent which drains the right ventricle passes cephalad, lying on the anterior surface of the aorta to terminate in nodes of the anterior mediastinum which are close to the left innominate vein. The efferent vessel of the left ventricle lies on the posterior surface of the pulmonary artery in its passage to nodes of the right tracheobronchial group in close relation to the superior vena cava.

Knowledge of the activity of these vessels is very deficient. Colloidal solutions, when injected into the living myocardium, are found in cardiac lymphatics within a matter of seconds. This is the only statement which can be made on this phase.

It is most probable that the direction of flow of lymph is into the subepicardial plexus from the deeper lymphatics of the myocardium. Systole may be accepted as emptying the myocardial lymphatics. The flow of lymph from the heart is

increased with increased functional activity.

PROBLEMS REMAINING IN CARDIAC LYMPHATICS

Of the problems reamining in the field of cardiac lymphatics, the following are most important.

The developmental pattern of the cardiac lymphatics requires further study. The relative role of the right and left lymphatic ducts should be determined and and a study conducted on the same lines as suggested in the lung.

The response to foreign colloidal material injected into the myocardium should be given more careful study. The method of entry into the lymphatics here is not known, but is probably no different here than in other sites.

The fate of intrapericardially injected colloids has not been determined. This is a compound problem of the response of the pericardial mesothelium and absorption from the pericardial cavity.

The function and flow of lymph in the heart is deserving of investigation.

THE DIAPHRAGMATIC LYMPHATICS

Investigations of the absorption of particulate matter from the peritoneal cavity have focused attention on the importance of the diaphragmatic lymphatics. In addition, the frequency of abdominal disease complicating diseasees of the lungs has caused much speculation as to the circulation of lymph in this muscular organ. In attempting the definition of the structure and function of these lymphatics, peritoneal absorption will be discussed only as it applies to the demonstration of diaphragmatic lymphatics.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIAPHRAGMATIC LYMPHATICS

There is no complete report in the literature on the development of these lymphatic channels.

McCallum (1903), in his report on the absorption of granular material from the peritoneal cavity of dogs, stresses the desirability of an understanding of this phase of the diaphragmatic lymphatics. He states that it was found impossible to inject the lymphatics of the diaphragm through the thoracic duct of the embryo pig. McCallum feels that the apparent reason for this was the presence of intervening lymph nodes. The earliest stage at which an injection could be obtained by direct puncture was at a length of 40 mm. By staining the diaphragm in toto with silver nitrate, he found it possible to demonstrate endothelial lined lymphatics in the pig of 35 mm. Before this stage, the peritoneal cavity

is fully formed and separated from the thoracic cavity by the diaphragm and McCallum proposes that lymphatics may grow into the diaphragm from its margins and that the intimate relationship to the peritoneal cavity be secondarily established.

THE ANATOMY OF THE DIAPHRAGMATIC LYMPHATICS

Diaphragmatic lymphatic vessels were probably first observed by Rudbeck (1653). Other early investigators, including Mascagni (1787) and Nuck (1692), also saw these vessels but their descriptions are not available.

McCallum (1903) found that the diaphragm was very active in the removal of granular material from the peritoneum. This led him to the examination of the lymphatic vessels in the course of tracing this material. Subpleural and subperitoneal plexuses were seen to be connected by a rather dense network of intermuscular lymphatic capillaries. He noticed a difference, however, between the surface lymphatics of the pleural and peritoneal surfaces. On the peritoneal surface, vessels were observed running parallel to muscle fibers and were placed more superficially (in some cases projecting beyond muscle fibers) than those on the pleural surface. These vessels were connected by capillaries which were superficial and transverse to muscle fibers. The superficial vessels (named lacunae by McCallum) were separated from the peritoneum only by isolated strands of reticular tissue, making the

closest possible communication between peritoneum and lymphatic endothelium on the abdominal surface of the diaphragm. Lymphatics on the pleural surface were not so intimately related to the diaphragmatic pleura. Larger channels were seen to lie in a semicircular manner around the tendinomuscular junction and from these, channels were seen to pass anteriorly and posteriorly to the esophageal hiatus.

The picture of subpleural and subperitoneal plexuses united by intermuscular capillaries has been generally accepted by the anatomy texts and is so described there in rather brief form. Rouviere (1938) believes that larger collecting vessels are formed in the center of the diaphragm from the plexuses on the pleural and peritoneal surfaces. Other than the above, there are no descriptions available on the diaphragmatic lymphatics.

It is quite discouraging to attempt the review of the anatomy of the diaphragmatic lymphatics. With the exception of McCallum, there are no adequate descriptions. It is true that present descriptions are probably correct, but they are incomplete. This becomes especially true when the different response of the pleural and peritoneal surfaces is considered. It is possible that the activity of the peritoneal surface is due to the anatomical arrangement alone.

McCallum's observations are the kind which are now needed. His definition is very fine and exact, so much so that a single study of this type should be repeated before drawing any

final conclusions. On his explanation, if true, the great activity of the peritoneum and the inertness of the pleura may be partially explained.

The formation of the larger collecting trunks is not entirely clear, but would not be expected to influence the relative efficiency of the two surfaces.

GROSS LYMPHATIC DRAINAGE OF THE DIAPHRAGM

As has been suggested, a knowledge of the lymphatic drainage of the diaphragm becomes essential to the understanding of the lymphatic drainage of the peritoneal cavity. The topic will be considered here, however, because the full examination of its functional relationship to the pleural cavity and thorax is not complete.

The present gross anatomy texts give a somewhat inadequate account of this pattern. Gray is representative and cites the following arrangement: The anterior set of diaphragmatic nodes are situated just behind the xiphoid process of the sternum and recieve efferent channels which pass through the diaphragm from the convex surface of the liver. Other anterior nodes are located at the junction of the seventh rib with its costal cartilage and drain the anterior portions of the diaphragm. The middle set of nodes are said to be situated close to the point where the phrenic nerve enters the diaphragm on either side. The afferent channels of these nodes drain

the middle portion of the diaphragm and possess efferent channels which pass to the posterior mediastinal nodes. The posterior set of nodes consists of a few nodes situated on the back of the crura of the diaphragm and are connected on the one hand with the lumbar nodes and the other with the posterior mediastinal nodes.

Higgins and Graham (1929), following the intraperitoneal injection of hydrokollag into living normal dogs, established the most complete description of the efferent lymphatics of the diaphragm yet given. These channels are as follows: The sternal route is by far the most important, carrying about 80% of the ink injected intraperitoneally. By this route, material passes through the diaphragm into the lymphatic plexus of vessels which lies posterior to the sternum. The further course of this route consists of passage into retrosternal channels which run parallel to the internal mammary vessels. A pulmonary route was described as comprised by a group of vessels, generally more conspicuous on the left than on the right, which, after leaving the diaphragm, course forward along the pericardium parallel to the esophagus and the vagus nerves to terminate in the bronchial lymph nodes lying dorsal to the base of the lung. A lymph vessel also courses forward over the diaphragm and then runs parallel to the phrenic nerve. It empties directly into the paratracheal nodes. Lymph from the main channel described above passes also to the paratracheal nodes and thence to the venous system, either by way of

vessels entering the right lymphatic duct or the thoracic duct just before it empties into the venous confluence. A third route consisted of channels which pass over the vault of the diaphragm and then cephalad on the posterior wall of the thorax to unite with the thoracic duct. The two posterior routes, the fourth and fifth routes described, lead from the peritoneum upward through the diaphragm and then backward and downward again through the diaphragm into the peritoneal cavity or into the retroperitoneal spaces dorsal to the two diaphragmatic crura. Of the two, the latter course is the more constant. The lymphatic channels in the lower right and lower left margins of the diaphragm carry the lymph backward, dorsal to the peritoneum, to a large lymph node which lies in the retroperitoneal space just above the kidney. From this node, channels pass into the cysterna chyli. The fifth group of channels courses over the dorsal half of the diaphragm and converges near the ventral margin of the aorta. These channels then go directly through the diaphragm, enter the peritoneal cavity and may be traced directly to a lymph node in the mesentery of the spleen. This node also is connected by small vessels to the cysterna chyli.

Lemon and Higgins (1929) confirmed these routes exactly, again using dogs as the animal upon which the description was based. Their experimental method was the same.

Higgins and Mills (1929), in attempting to find pathways from the lung into the abdominal cavity, failed to find any

such functional pathway. Using dogs, they did, however, find the same abdominal routes as Higgins and Graham. They state that the vessels passing to the node in the mesentery of the spleen pass along the ventral surface of the stomach to reach this node. Lateral and posterior aspects of the diaphragm were found to drain into the retroperitoneal nodes.

Rouviere (1938) divides the collecting vessels of the diaphragm into subperitoneal, perforating, and subpleural collecting trunks. He is of the opinion that subperitoneal vessels may either remain below the diaphragm and terminate in abdominal nodes or pass through the diaphragm and terminate in supradiaphragmatic nodes. Subpleural vessels accompany the inferior phrenic blood vessels and terminate in preesophageal and juxta-aortic nodes. Perforating vessels are very numerous andmost enter a principal collecting trunk. Others terminate in nodes which lie near the inferior vena cava and the phrenic nerve. Rouviere also states that anterior portions of the diaphragm drain into sternal nodes, while posterior regions drain into intra-abdominal nodes.

The experimental results cited do not contradict the conventional picture, but rather add to it. The observations of Higgins and Graham are well founded and repeated identical patterns were used as the basis of conclusion. The fact that they are supported in their entirety by Lemon and Higgins and the abdominal routes by Higgins and Mills lends considerable credence. Whether this is the pattern of the human diaphragm

is quite another question. The fact that it agrees in principle with the human pattern is quite suggestive, and these routes may be accepted with reservation as being present in the human. Rouviere's pattern supports the above.

PHYSIOLOGIC CONSIDERATIONS OF THE DIAPHRAGMATIC LYMPHATICS

The physiology of the diaphragmatic lymphatics is not at all defined. As in other phases of diaphragmatic lymphatics, present knowledge has followed intraperitoneal injection largely.

McCallum (1903) was immediately struck by the rapid appearance of carbon particles in the "phagocytic leukocytes" which abounded in the peritoneal exudate. He observed these cells to pass through the walls of the lacunae which he describes. He also found that the peritoneal mesothelium over the lacunae could become phagocytic and act in the same capacity as the leukocytes. The author felt that this process played some part in the removal of peritoneal exudates. He also found that dead animals under artifical respiration were capable of showing filled diaphragmatic lymphatics after intraperitoneal injection of india ink. Covering the diaphragmatic peritoneum with 10% formalin and other chemicals designed to kill the mesothelial cells did not appreciably alter the rate of absorption, McCallum reports that he found either phagocytosis or no phagocytosis, but never the two in the same specimen. He was of the opinion that the foreign particles

passed into his lacunae through the intercellular substance of the peritoneum and lymphatic endothelium, but did not believe that stomata were present. Alternating size and shape of the lacunae were held responsible for the entry of carbon into the lymphatics.

Florey (1927) came to the conclusion that pressure alone was responsible for the filling of the diaphragmatic lymphatics from the peritoneal surface. Intraperitoneal carbon injections were used, followed by removal of the thorax. He could then observe the filling of the lymphatics of the rat, rabbit and guinea pig. Florey found that these vessels were very readily observed and that they pulsated independently at a rate of 15 pulsations per minute. The peritoneal mesothelial cells were outlined by dye particles and he quotes Kolosow (1893) as stating that the endothelium of the lymph capillaries of the diaphragm is similarly outlined. Phagocytosis was noted to occur long after peritoneal injection. A very interesting finding by Florey is that colloids escape from the diaphragmatic lymphatics at a pressure of 2.5 cm of water, and that these colloids are seen only to coze from the peritoneal (not the pleural) surface of the diaphragm.

Lemon and Higgins (1929) also examined the part of the diaphragmatic lymphatics in the transport of intraperitoneally injected colloidal material. They noted that carbon appeared in the thoracic lymphatics of normal dogs in 3 to 5 minutes after injection and that channels on the right side of the

diaphragm filled more efficiently than on the left. After unilateral section of the phrenic nerve, absorption occurred at a slower rate, but definitely did occur. Carbon was found in thoracic lymphatics 10 to 15 minutes after injection. Lemon and Higgins also believed that flow of lymph in the diaphragm was toward the pleural cavity and that passage of particles from pleural to peritoneal cavity does not occur.

Higgins and Graham confirmed this opinion. Their intrapleural injections failed to reveal the diaphragmatic pleura as an absorbing surface. This is confirmatory to observations on pleural absorption.

Allen and Vogt (1939) rather dogmatically state that the entire process of entry into diaphragmatic lymphatics is dependent upon changes in size and shape of the diaphragmatic lymphatics. They found that the time of appearance of carbon in intrathoracic lymphatics was closely correlated with respiratory rate, appearing sconer with rapid respirations. If carbon suspensions were placed on pieces of excised diaphragm and these pieces alternately stretched and relaxed, carbon entered lymphatics and flowed through the channels. They believe that entry is the result of dilatation of the channels and movement the result of compression during contraction of the diaphragm.

There are several phases of the activity of the diaphragmatic lymphatics which must now be evaluated. Although not discussed in order above, they will here be separated for the

sake of clarity.

The manner of entrance of foreign particles into the diaphragmatic lymphatics presents much the same problem which was faced in the pleural cavity. In the diaphragm, the greater amount of evidence supports the view that mechanical factors alone are responsible for the entry of colloidal particles into the lymphatics. McCallum's observation that killing of the peritoneal mesothelial cells does not alter the absorption is certainly significant on this score. He believed that mechanical factors alone could be responsible, as did Florey. Allen and Vogt seem to have shown definitely that mechanical factors alone may be responsible. On the other hand. McCallum and others have shown that phagocytosis does occur and that dye laden cells are found in lymphatics. The relative role is not clear, but mechanical factors have the greater support.

Florey and McCallum each have seen that peritoneal mesothelial cells are butlined by carbon particles after intraperitoneal injection, which suggests that the site of entry is intercellular. This is not a fact generally accepted and it must be substantiated more before accepting this site of entry.

With mechanical factors held to be responsible for the entry of carbon particles into the lymphatics, variation in activity of the diaphragm should produce difference in efficiency of absorption. This has been proven true by Lemon

and Higgins and by Allen and Vogt. It seems that the factor controlling the efficiency of the diaphragm in absorption and movement of lymph through its channels is the activity of that structure.

Perhaps the most intriguing feature of the activity of the diaphragmatic lymphatics is the difference in the response of the mesothelium of the thoracic and abdominal surfaces. On the other hand, there is the very active peritoneum and on the other the inert pleura. Both are of the same origin and form, yet there exists this definite difference. It cannot be explained at present.

Florey's observation that lymph flows from the peritoneal and not the pleural surface when injections into the diaphragm are made is allied to this problem. A thorough anatomical study is indicated, for no conclusion can be reached.

It has been established that lymph flow in the diaphragm is directed toward the thorax and not in the opposite direction. No conclusion can be reached as to why this should be so. It may be that lymph from the superficial plexuses passes into collecting vessels in the center of the diaphragm and that these vessels pass only toward the confluence of lymphatics. In all probability the answer lies deeper than this and a good definition of the anatomy of these vessels may give the answer which is sought.

THE TOTAL CONCEPT OF DIAPHRAGMATIC LYMPHATICS

The concept of the diaphragmatic lymphatics which may be formed leaves much to be desired. It is terribly incomplete. In some phases the technical difficulties attending such studies are responsible, while in others the only requirement is a more exhaustive investigation.

The development of the lymphatics of the diaphragm has not recieved adequate attention. No conclusions can be drawn.

The description of the lymphatic vessels of the diaphragm must consist only of the brief statement that this network is composed of plexuses of lymphatic capillaries which underlie the serous membranes on the pleural and peritoneal surfaces and which are connected by intermuscular lymphatics. The formation of the efferent channels is not clear. It is probable that there is some fine difference in the anatomical arrangement and relationships of the lymphatic vessels on the two surfaces.

The gross pattern of lymphatic drainage of the diaphragm is formed of channels which carry lymph into the abdomen and of others which carry lymph into the thorax. Of the cephalic routes, the sternal consists of channels which pass from the anterior portion of the diaphragm into vessels which lie posterior to the sternum. These vessels terminate in the sternal nodes. A second route in this direction consists of channels which course forward along the esophagus and vagus nerves to terminate in the bronchial nodes lying dorsal to the base

of the lung. The third route is made up of vessels which arch over the diaphragm and run forward on the dorsal wall of the thorax to unite with the thoracic duct. The abdominal routes consist first of channels which pass through the diaphragm and arch over its vault to pass again into the abdominal cavity. By these channels lymph is carried into the nodes in the peritoneal cavity or into retroperitoneal lymph spaces dorsal to the two diaphragmatic drura. One of these channels terminates in a node which lies in the retroperitoneal space just above the kidney, while the other ends in a lymph node in the mesentery of the spleen. Both of these nodes of termination are connected with the cysterna chyli by efferent vessels.

Studies on the flow of lymph in the diaphragm, as based on the activity of the lymphatics of this organ in absorbing colloidal dyes, indicate the following facts. Lymph flow in the diaphragm is only toward the pleural surface, with the result that foreign particles pass from abdominal to thoracic cavity and not in the reverse direction. There is a marked difference in the absorptive capacity of the pleural and peritoneal surfaces, the former inert and the latter very active. Mechanical factors alone may be responsible for the entry of colloidal material into these lymphatics, though phagocytosis by peritoneal mesothelial cells can and does occur, with dye laden macrophages observed to pass into lymphatic channels. The activity of the diaphragm influences the

efficiency of this absorptive process through the peritoneal surface, the paralyzed diaphragm absorbing more slowly than the actively functioning organ.

PROBLEMS REMAINING IN DIAPHRAGMATIC LYMPHATICS

The situation here closely resembles that encountered in pleural absorption. Although a limited concept has been formed, the most important problems remain unanswered. These will be discussed briefly.

The development of the diaphragmatic lymphatics should be investigated. The value of an understanding of this phase becomes very apparent when the present status of the anatomy of these vessels is considered.

The adult enatomy of the diaphragmatic is very deficiently understood. An exact knowledge of the relations of these vessels to surrounding tissues is required, for reasons discussed above.

Although a very good description of the gross picture of diaphragmatic lymphatic efferents has been presented, the clarification of the abdominal routes as they exist in man is desirable.

Closely associated with the problems above is the direction of lymph flow in the diaphragm. This cannot be explained at present and is of considerable significance. It is probable that this will be found on an anatomical basis.

The difference in the absorptive capacity of the two mesothelial layers covering the surface of the diaphragm ' is also closely associated with the problems above. This is quite a fundamental problem and may possibly be explained on an anatomic basis, but the probability is that it is much deeper.

Although two possible methods of entry of colloidal particles into the diaphragmatic lymphatics are known, the relative role and significance is not clear. In addition, the site of entry into lymphatics and through peritoneum is in need of clarification.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The conclusions presented are merely brief summaries of more complete descriptions which may be found in the text under appropriate title.

ABSORPTION FROM THE PLEURAL CAVITY

The development of lymphatic channels intimately associated with pleural absorption has not been adequately studied, nor have the microscopic lymphatics associated with the pleural cavity of the adult.

In its reaction to and removal of foreign substances from the thoracic cavity, the pleural mesothelium is very active. Grystalloids follow osmotic patterns in their absorption. Pleural mesothelium is of great functional capabilities in its response to colloidal material, such as carbon particles. These cells possess phagocytic properties in situ and produce an unknown number of wandering macrophages. Mediastinal pleura is most active in its response to dye particles, followed by costal pleura, with the visceral and diaphragmatic pleura inert. The relative role of blood stream and lymphatics in the removal of dye particles has not been determined.

Lymphatic efferents of the pleural cavity consist of intercostal lymphatic vessels. Those on the posterior wall drain to the vertebral nodes and those on the anterior wall to the sternal nodes. Channels draining into the upper abdomen are present in dogs, but have not been well substantiated in man.

The relative roles of respiratory movement and phagocytosis in filling of the lymphatics associated with the pleural cavity have not been defined. Both have been shown to be responsible. Pneumothorax decreases the efficiency of pleural absorption, with hyperpnea increasing efficiency. Other factors have not been adequately studied.

The concept of pleural absorption may be briefly stated as follows: Foreign colloidal material injected intrapleurally is spread diffusely over all pleural surfaces and enters lymphatics by mechanical or phagocytic processes. Exudation is pronounced very early, with polymorphonuclear neutrophilic leukocytes predominating which are phagocytic. In a matter of hours, phagocytic mononuclear cells predominate in the exudate. At a very early stage, the differential response of the pleurallmesothelium may be observed. Phagocytosis in situ by these cells is observed as is the production of wandering macrophages. Large accumulations of carbon are seen on the mediastinal pleura. Mesothelial surfaces remain stained for long periods, with gradual removal of the dye containing cells.

Problems remaining in pleural absorption include the following: The method of entry of particles into lymphatics; the relative role of the blood stream and lymphatic system; the differential response of the pleural mesothelium; the manner in which respiration affects absorption; the influence of inflammation; the pathways of the mediastinum; the fine details

of the structure of the lymphatics of mediastinal and costal pleurae.

THE PULMONARY LYMPHATICS

The lymphatic channels of the lung are derived from the primitive right and left thoracic ducts of the embryo. They pass to the lung along the trachea and bronchi. Upon entering the lung, they grow peripherally along blood vessels and bronchi, with greatest numbers found in association with the pulmonary vein. Pleural plexuses develop early from the perivenous channels. This results in the outlining of the lobule of the lung, with periarterial and peribronchial lymphatics lying in the core of the lobule.

Lymphatic channels in the adult lung are found in four principal locations: Pleural, perilobular (perivenous), periarterial, and peribronchial. Greatest numbers are found in the perilobular location. Anastomoses occur between these sets of lymphatics. Superficial (pleural) and deep lymphatics are functionally separated by valves which allow flow only into the superficial plexus. No lymphatics are found distal to the alveolar ducts.

Superficial and deep lymphatics unite at the hilus to form the efferent lymphatics of the lung. They pass to the tracheobronchial nodes. Efferents from these nodes carry lung lymph to the blood stream. The right lung lymph enters into the venous confluence on the right, while left lung lymph enters on the left.

The physiology of the pulmonary lymphatics is only incompletely understood. Lymph is formed in the lung. One function is the removal of foreign colloidal material. The flow of lymph in the lung is dependent on respiratory excursion to large extent. Anoxia increases the flow.

The concept of pulmonary lymphatics is formed from the above conclusions.

Problems remaining in pulmonary lymphatics include the following: The source of lung lymph; the pathway of dye particles in the distal portions of the respiratory tree; the factors which control formation and flow of lung lymph; the amount and composition of lymph formed in the lung.

THE CARDIAC LYMPHATICS

Cardiac lymphatics are derived from mediastinal lymphatic vessels of the embryo. Exact sources are in doubt. After covering the heart with a profuse pericardial plexus, these vessels grow into the myocardium to establish the myocardial plexus. Valves appear early which functionally separate these plexuses, flow being allowed only superficially.

Endothelial lined lymphatic vessels are found in the heart in three principal networks: Subepicardial, myocardial, and subendocardial. The subepicardial plexus is formed of capillaries and collecting vessels which unite to form the lymphatic efferents of the heart. The myocardial plexus is formed only of capillaries which are closely applied to muscle fibers. Subendocardial lymphatics lie superficial to the Purkinje

fibers and are in communication with the myocardial lymphatics. They are not found on the ventricular valves, but extend for short distances on the proximal portion of the chordae tendinae. Auricles are poorly supplied in contrast to ventricles.

Grossly, the heart is divided into right and left drainage areas. The efferent draining the right ventricle passes cephalad on the anterior surfact of the aorta to terminate in anterior mediastinal nodes. The efferent of the left ventricle lies on the posterior surface of the pulmonary artery in its passage to nodes of the right tracheobronchial group.

Colloidal dyes injected into the myocardium are found in lymphatics in a very short time. The direction of flow of lymph in the heart is toward and into the subepicardial plexus. Systole empties the myocardial lymphatics. The flow of lymph is increased with increased functional activity.

The concept of cardiac lymphatics is formed from these conclusions.

Problems remaining in cardiac lymphatics include the following: The developmental pattern, that is the source of the cardiac lymphatics; the fate of intrapericardially injected colloidal dyes; the function and flow of lymph in the heart.

THE DIAPHRAGMATIC LYMPHATICS

The development of the lymphatics of the diaphragm has not been adequately studied.

The lymphatics of this organ consist of subpleural, subperitoneal, and collecting vessels.

Gross lymphatic efferents of the diaphragm pass into the thorax and abdomen. Routes carrying lymph cephalad include: The sternal route; a pulmonary route which carries lymph to bronchial nodes after passing along the esophagus; a route which passes to the thoracic duct after passage along the posterior wall of the thorax. Abdominal routes include: Channels which arch over the diaphragm to pass to a node at the upper pole of the kidney and to a node in the mesentery of the spleen.

Dye particles may enter the diaphragmatic by mechanical means or in phagocytic cells. Lymph flow in this organ is only toward the thorax, and particles do not pass from thoracic into abdominal cavity. The diaphragmatic pleura is inert in its response to colloidal dye particles, while they are rapidly absorbed through the peritoneal surface. The efficiency of the absorptive process on the peritoneal surface is dependent upon the activity of the diaphragm. Absorption occurs more slowly through the paralyzed diaphragm.

The concept of the diaphragmatic lymphatics is formed from the above conclusions.

Problems remaining in diaphragmatic lymphatics include the following: The development of these lymphatics; the finer adult anatomy of the diaphragmatic lymphatics; the direction of lymph flow and reasons thereof; the difference of absorptive capacity between pleural and peritoneal surfaces; the relative role of phagocytosis and mechanical factors in absorption via the diaphragm.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aagaard, O. C. 1924 Les vaisseaux lymphatique du coeur chez l'homme et chez quelques mammiferes. Levin and Munksgaard, Copenhague.
- Aagaard, O. C. and H. C. Hall 1914 Injektionen des "Reizleitungsystems" und der Lymphgefasse des Saugetierherzens. Anat. Hefte, Bd. 51, S. 357-425.
- Albrecht, E. 1887 Anatomische, histologische, physiologische Untersuchungen uber die Muskulatur des Endocardium bei Warmblutern. J. Abel, Griefawald.
- Allen, L. and G. Vogt 1939 The mechanism of lymphatic absorption from serous cavities. Am. J. Physiol., vol. 119, pp. 776-782.
- Andrus, P. M. 1936 The mechanics of respiration. Am. Rev. Tuberc., vol. 33, pp. 139-164.
- Bartels, P. 1909 Das Lymphgefassystem. Jena.
- Bettman, R. B. 1925 The reaction of the pleura to particulate matter, especially in the presence of pneumothorax; preliminary report. Arch. Surg., vol. 10, pp. 523-550.
- Best, C. H. and N. B. Taylor 1945 The Physiological Basis of Medical Practice. Fourth Edition. Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore.
- Bianchi, S. 1886 Nouve richerche sui linfatici del cuore. Lo Sperimentale, Firenze, vol. 58, pp. 376-386.
- Binet, L. and J. Verne 1924 Absorption of oil through the pleura. Comp. rend. soc. de biol., vol. 91, pp. 66-68. Abstracted JAMA, vol. 83, p. 565, 1924.
- Bizzozero, G. and G. Salvioli 1878 Studi sulla struttura e sui linfatici delle sierose umani; della plura e del pericardio. Arch. per le Sc. Med., vol. 11. pp. 247-266.
- Bock, H. 1905 Die lymphgefasse des Herzens. Anat. Anz., Bd. 27, S. 33-41.
- Bradley, W. R. and M. W. First 1938 Response of pleural surfaces to implanted dusts. Jour. Lab. and Clin. Med., vol. 24, pp. 45-52.
- Brock, R. C. 1934 Observations on pleural absorption. Brit. J. Surg., vol. 21, p. 650.
- Brock, R. C. and E. A. Blair 1931 The importance of the respiratory movements in the formation and absorption of

pleural fluids. J. Thor. Surg., vol. 1, pl 50.

- Brodsky, J. F. 1928 Physiologie und pathologie der resorption aus der pleurahole. Ztschr. f. d. ges. exper. Med., Bd. 61, S. 24.
- Cash, J. R. 1917 On the development of the lymphatics in the heart of the embryo pig. Anat. Rec., vol. 13, pp. 451-464.
- Corfer, H. J. 1926 Absorption from the lower respiratory tract. J. A. M. A., vol. 86, p. 1739.
- Corper, H. J. and O. B. Renoch 1921 Absorption of acacia from the pleural cavity of normal and tuberculous rabbits. Am. Rev. Tuberc., vol. 5, p. 49.
- Councilman, W. T. 1900 The lobule of the lung and its relations to the lymphatics. Jour. Boston Soc. of Med. Sci., vol. 4.
- Cruikshank, W. 1790 The anatomy of the absorbing vessels of the human body. London.
- Cunningham, R. S. 1916 On the development of the lymphatics of the lungs of the embryo pig. Carneige Inst. Wash. Contrib. to Embryology, Pub. 224, vol. 4, pp. 44-68.
- Cunningham, D. J. 1907 Textbook of Anatomy, Edited by D. J. Cunningham, Second Edition. Wm. Wood Co., New York.
- Desbaillet, E. 1927 Contribution a l'histophysiologie de la plevre. Arch. internat. de med. exper., vol. 3, p. 315.
- Dolley, F. S. and E. R. Weise 1929 The effects of large closed bilateral pneumothorax on thoracic lymph flow. Arch. Surg., vol. 18, pp. 542-552.
- Drinker, C. K. and M. E. Field 1933 Lymphatics, lymph, and tissue fluid. Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore.
- Drinker, C. K. and M. F. Warren 1943 The genesis and resolution of pulmonary transudates and exudates (role of pulmonary lymphatics and capillaries). Alpha Omega Alpha Lecture. J. A. M. A., vol. 122, pp. 269-273.
- Drinker, C. K. and M. F. Warren 1942 Lymph flow from the lungs of the dog. Am. J. Physiol., vol. 127, p. 207.
- Drinker, C. K., Warren, M. F., and R. L. McLanahan 1937 The absorption of protein solutions from the pulmonary

alveoli. J. Exper. Med., vol. 66, p. 449.

- Drinker, C. K. and J. Yoffey 1941 Lymphatics, lymph, and lymphoid tissue; their physiological and clinical significance. Harvard Uni. Press, Cambridge, Mass.
- Dybkowski Quoted from Starling and Leathes: J. Physiol., vol. 18, p. 106, 1895.
- Eberth, C. J. and A. Belajeff 1866 Uber die Lymphgefasse des Herzens. Virchow's Archiv, Bd. 37, S. 124-131.
- Flint, J. M. 1906 The development of the lungs. Am. J. Anat., vol. 6, pp. 1-138.
- Fohmann, V. 1833 Memoire sur le vaisseaux lymphatiques de la peau, des membranes muqueuses, sereuses, du tissu nerveaux et musculaire. J. Desoer, Liege.
- Florey, H. 1927 Reactions of and absorption by lymphatics, with special reference to those of the diaphragm. Brit. J. Exp. Path., vol. 8, pp. 479-490.
- Gillian, L. A. and R. E. Conklin 1938 Removal of foreign substances by lymphatics of the snake lung. Am. J. Physiol., vol. 123, pp. 598-607.
- Lewis, W. H., Editor 1942 Anatomy of the Human Body, by Henry Gray. Twenty-fourth Edition. Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia.
- Grober, H. 1901 Die Resorptionskraft der Pleura. Habilitationsschrift, Jena.
- Gurlt, E. F. 1844 Handbuch der vergleichenden Anatomie der Haussaugetiere. Ed. 5, 1873. A. Hirschwald, Berlin.
- Harvey, D. F. and H. M. Zimmerman 1935 The development of the human lung; pulmonary lymphatics. Anat. Rec., vol. 61, pp. 203-229.
- Haviland, J. W. and J. F. A. McManus 1941 The passage of antipneumococcal antibodies into pleural exudates in the rabbit; comparison of penetration of the pleura by horse and rabbit sera. J. Immunol., vol. 42, pp. 395-400.
- Henle, J. 1868 Handbuch der system Anatomie des Menschen, Gefasslehre, Bd. 3, Aufl. 2. F. Vieweg u. Sohn, Braunschweig.
- Heuer, G. J. 1909 The development of the lymphatics in the small intestine of the pig. Am. J. Anat., vol. 9, p. 91.

- Higgins, G. M. and A. S. Graham 1929 Lymphatic drainage from the diaphragmatic pleura into the peritoneal cavity: Experimental study. Proc. Staff Meet. Mayo Clinic, vol. 4, p. 246.
- Higgins, G. M. and R. G. Mills 1931 Lymph drainage from the diaphragmatic pleura into retroperitoneal spaces. Surg. Clin. No. Am., vol. 11, pp. 875-886.
- Hilton, R. 1933 The action of artifical pneumothorax on the lymphatics of the lung. Proc. Roy. Soc. Med., vol. 26, pp. 1145-1146.
- His, W. 1863 Uber die Wurzels der Lymphgefasse in den Hauten des Korpers und uber die Theorien der Lymphbildung. Z. f. wiss. Zool., Bd. 12, S. 223-254.
- Kampmeier, O. F. 1928 The distribution of valves and the first appearance of definite direction of drainage of lymph by the human lung. Am. Rev. Tuberc., vol. 18, pp. 360-372.
- Kampmeier, O. F. 1928 The lymph flow of the human heart with reference to the development of channels and the first appearance, distribution, and physiology of their valves. Am. Heart. J., vol. 4, pp. 210-222.
- Karsner, H. T. and J. S. Swanbeck 1920 The removal of particulate matter from the pleural cavity. J. Med. Research, vol. 49, p. 91.
- Katsura, S. 1924 Die Resorption der Farbstofflosungen aus der Bauch- und Pleurahole, mit besonderer Berucksichtungen des Ductus lymphaticus dexter. Tohoku Jour. Exp. Med., vol. 5, p. 294.
- Klein, E. 1875 The anatomy of the lymphatic system. London.
- Kolosow Quoted from Florey: Brit. J. Exp. Path., vol. 8, pp. 479-490, 1927.
- Lauth, E. A. 1830 Lymphatiques de la tunique interne du coeur. Memoires de la Soc. d'histoire naturelle de Strasbourg, T. 1, lre livraison, Paris.
- Lemon, W. S. and Higgins, G. M. 1929 Lymphatic absorption of particulate matter through the normal and paralyzed diaphragm; an experimental study. Tr. A. Am. Physicians, vol. 44, pp. 148-154.
- Lemon, W. S. and G. M. Higgins 1931 Absorption from the pleural cavities of dogs: I. The cytologic aspect.

Am. J. Med. Sci., vol. 181, pp 697.

- Lemon, W. S. and G. M. Higgins 1932 Absorption from the pleural cavity of dogs: II. The lymphatic system. Am. J. Med. Sci., vol. 184, pp. 846-858.
- Leyh, Fr. A. 1859 Handbuch der Anatomie der Haussaugetiere mit besonderer Brucksichtigung des Pferds, Aufl. 2. Ebner u. Seubert, Stuttgart, H. Laupp, Tubingen.
- Ludwig and Schweigger-Seidel 1866 Quoted from Brock and Blair: J. Thor. Surg., vol. 1, p. 50, 1931.
- Luschka, H. 1863 Anatomie des Menschen. Bd. 1, zweite abthlg. Laupp u. Seibeck, Tubigen.
- Lyter, J. C. 1924 Pathways of the mediastinum, lungs, and pleurae. Am. J. Med. Sci., vol. 168, p. 882.
- Maier, H. C. 1939 The effect of pneumothorax on the rate of pleural absorption of fluids; experimental study. J. Thor. Surg., vol. 8, pp. 283-292.
- Marchand, T. 1896 Zur Kenntnis der Fibrinosen Exsudation bei Entzundengen. Virchow's Archiv., Bd. 145, S. 279.
- Mascagni, P. 1787 Vasorum lymphaticorum corporis humani historia et ichonographia. P. Carli, Senis.
- Masini, O. 1887 Sui linfatici del cuore. Arch. per. le Sc. Med., vol. 11, pp. 359-366.
- Merklen, P., Waitz, and J. Kabaker 1932 Les injections d' encre de Chine dans les Epanchements Pleurax Humains. Compt. rend. soc. de biol., vol. 110, p. 308.
- Miller, W. S. 1937 The Lung. Charles C. Thomas, Baltimore.
- Morris, Sir. H. 1902 Human Anatomy. Third Edition. P. Blakiston's Son and Co., Philadelphia.
- McCallum, W. B. 1903 On the mechanism of absorption of granular material from the peritoneum. Johns Hopkins Hosp. Bull., vol. 14, p. 105.
- Noetzel, W. 1927 Ueber die infektion von der bakterien resorption der pleurahole. Experimentelle Untersuchung. Arch. f. klin. Chir., Bd. 80, S. 678.
- Notkin, J. A. 1925 Die Aufsaugung in den Serosen Hohlen (Die Bedeutung der Lymphgefasse). Virchow's Archiv., Bd. 255, S. 471.

- Nuck, A. 1692 Adenographia curiosa et uteri foemenei anatome nova. Appendix: De inventis novis epistola anatomica. J. Luchtmans, Lugd. Bat.
- Nystrom, G. 1897 Uber die Lymphbahnen des Herzens. Arch. f. Anat. u. Physiol. u. Entwick., S. 361-378.
- Oschner, A. and M. DeBakey 1942 The significance of metastases in primary carcinoma of the lung; two cases with unusual metastases (with special reference to lymphatic extension). J. Thor. Surg., vol. 11, pp. 357-387.
- Patek, P. R. 1939 The morphology of the lymphatics of the mammelian heart. Am. J. Anat., vol. 64, pp. 203-251.
- Petersen, D. K. and C. K. Drinker 1942 The effects of heightened negative pressure in the chest, together with further experiments on anoxia in increasing the flow of lung lymph. Am. J. Physiol., vol. 137, pp. 641-648.
- Piersol, H. 1930 Human Anatomy, Volume I. J. B. Lippincot Co., Philadelphia.
- Poirer, Cuneo, and Delamere 1903 The Lymphatics. Translated by Leaf. p. 229.
- Ranvier, L. 1889 Traite technique d'histologie, Ed. 2. F. Savy, Paris.
- Rouviere, H. 1938 Anatomy of the Human Lymphatic System. (Translated from the origional "Anatomie des Lymphatiques de l'homme" by M. J. Tobias). Edwards Bros., Inc.
- Rudbeck, O. 1653 Nova exervitatio anatomia exhibens ductus hepatico aquosos et vasa glandularum serosa, nunc primum inventa, aeneisque figuris delineata. Lauringerus, Euchar.
- Sabin, F. R. 1901 On the origion and development of the lymphatic system from the veins and the development of the lymph hearts and thoracic duct in the pig. Am. J. Anat., vol. 1, p. 367.
- Salvioli, G. 1878 Sulla struttura e sui linfatici del cuore. Arch. per le Sc. Med., vol. 2, pp. 376-386.
- Schweigger-Seidel, F. 1871 Das Herz: Stricker's Handbuch der Anatomie. W. Engelmann, Leipzig.
- Sappey, P. C. 1874 Anatomie, physiologie, pathologie des vaisseaux lymphatiques. Paris.
- Sappey, P. C. 1885 Anatomie, physiologie, pathologie des

vaisseaux lymphatiques, consideres chez l'homme et chez le vertebres. Delahaye et Lecroshier, Paris.

- Shingo, A. 1908 Beitrage zur Physiologie des kunstlichen Pneumothorax von seiner Wirkung auf die Lungentuberkulose. Beitr. f. klin. Tuberk., Bd. 11, S. 1.
- Shore, L. R. 1928 Lymph drainage of the heart; preliminary communication. J. Anat., vol. 62, pp. 125-129.
- Shore, L. R. 1929 The lymphatic drainage of the human heart. J. Anat., vol. 63, pp. 291-313.
- Sikorsky, J. 1870 Ueber die Lymphgefasse der Lungen. Cantralbl. f. medicin. Wissensch.
- Sikorsky, J. 1872 The lymphatics of the lung. Kieff.
- Singer, J. J. 1942 Lymphatic drainage of the pleura as demonstrated by thoretrast (thorium dioxide preparation). California and West. Med., vol. 57, pp. 28-29.
- Skvorzoff, I. 1874 Materijali dlja anatomaii i histologii serdtsa i ego obolochek. St. Petersburg.
- Skworzow, J. 1874 Zur Histologie des Herzens unter seiner Hullen Bericht uber die physiologischen und histologischen Mittleilungen aus der 4. Versammlung russischer Naturforscher zu Kasan. Pfluger's Archiv., Bd. 8, S. 611-613.
- Starling, E. H. and J. B. Leathes 1895 On the absorption of salt solutions from the pleural cavity. J. Physicl., vol. 18, p. 106.
- Starling, E. H. 1895-1896 On the absorption of fluids from the connective tissue spaces. J. Physiol., vol. 19, p. 312.
- Stevens, J. E., Taliaferro, I., and H. B. Haag 1941 Absorption of sulfathiazole (sulfanilamide derivative) from the gastrointestinal tract, pleura, and peritoneum of dogs. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. and Med., vol. 48, pp. 223-226.

Teichmann, L. 1861 Das Saugadersystem. W. Engleman, Leipzig.

- Wadsworth, T. W. 1922 Respiratory movements influencing absorption from the pleura. J. Path. and Bact., vol. 25, p. 226.
- Wedl, C. 1871 Histologische Mitteilungen. 3. Uber die Lymphgefasse des Herzens. Weimer Akadamieberichte. Bd. 64.

Willis, T. 1676 De respirationis organis et usu.

Opera Omnia, Geneva.

Wywodzoff, D. W. 1866 Die Lymphwege der Lunge. Wiener medicin. Jahrbucher. Bd. 11.